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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
   March 31,    December 31,   March 26,  
   2012    2011    2011  
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 488,774       $ 570,681       $ 494,207   
Receivables, net    872,839      862,831      990,080   
Inventories    1,113,128      1,146,974      1,217,192   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    153,700      163,646      190,969   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total current assets    2,628,441      2,744,132      2,892,448   
Property and equipment, net    1,021,402      1,067,040      1,138,657   
Goodwill    63,650      61,899      62,907   
Other intangible assets    34,585      35,223      41,524   
Deferred income taxes    44,776      47,791      44,363   
Other assets    332,295      294,899      328,154   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total assets     $    4,125,149       $ 4,250,984       $    4,508,053   
    

 

    

 

    

 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity       
Current liabilities:       

Trade accounts payable     $ 952,812       $ 993,636       $ 1,008,969   
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    890,908      1,010,011      1,108,437   
Income taxes payable    12,411      7,389      2,881   
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt    35,770      36,401      91,412   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total current liabilities    1,891,901      2,047,437      2,211,699   
Deferred income taxes and other long-term liabilities    402,920      452,313      556,998   
Long-term debt, net of current maturities    642,513      648,313      657,015   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities    2,937,334      3,148,063      3,425,712   
    

 
    

 
    

 

Commitments and contingencies       
Redeemable preferred stock, net (liquidation preference – $387,172 in March 2012, $377,729

in December 2011, and $368,516 in March 2011    371,851      363,636      355,979   
    

 
    

 
    

 

Stockholders’ equity:       
Office Depot, Inc. stockholders’ equity:       

Common stock – authorized 800,000,000 shares of $.01 par value; issued and
outstanding shares – 289,739,448 in 2012, 286,430,567 in December 2011 and
283,486,355 in March 2011    2,897      2,864      2,835   

Additional paid-in capital    1,133,357      1,138,542      1,155,193   
Accumulated other comprehensive income    226,851      194,522      265,781   
Accumulated deficit    (489,621)     (539,124)     (640,232)  
Treasury stock, at cost – 5,915,268 shares in 2012 and 2011    (57,733)     (57,733)     (57,733)  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Office Depot, Inc. stockholders’ equity    815,751      739,071      725,844   
Noncontrolling interests    213      214      518   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total equity    815,964      739,285      726,362   
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total liabilities and equity     $    4,125,149       $ 4,250,984       $    4,508,053   
    

 

    

 

    

 

This report should be read in conjunction with the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (“Notes”) herein and the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in the Office Depot, Inc. Form 10-K filed February 28, 2012.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
   13 Weeks Ended  

   March 31,    March 26,  
   2012    2011  
Sales     $    2,872,809       $    2,972,960   
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs    1,989,635      2,094,772   

    
 

    
 

Gross profit    883,174      878,188   

Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses    695,904      693,886   
Recovery of purchase price    (68,314)     —   
General and administrative expenses    177,894      165,826   

    
 

    
 

Operating profit    77,690      18,476   

Other income (expense):     
Interest income    367      599   
Interest expense    (14,478)     (17,987)  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (12,069)     —   
Miscellaneous income, net    8,979      7,345   

    
 

    
 

Earnings before income taxes    60,489      8,433   

Income tax expense    10,990      13,823   
    

 
    

 

Net earnings (loss)    49,499      (5,390)  

Less: Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests    (4)     24   
    

 
    

 

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Office Depot, Inc.    49,503      (5,414)  

Preferred stock dividends    8,216      9,213   
    

 
    

 

Net earnings (loss) available to common shareholders     $ 41,287       $ (14,627)  
    

 

    

 

Earnings (loss) per share:     
Basic     $ 0.14       $ (0.05)  
Diluted    0.14      (0.05)  

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:     
Basic    278,552      276,986   
Diluted    358,863      276,986   

This report should be read in conjunction with the Notes herein and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2011 Form 10-K.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
   13 Weeks Ended  

   March 31,    March 26,  
   2012    2011  
Net earnings (loss)     $    49,499       $ (5,390)  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax where applicable:     

Foreign currency translation adjustments    35,168      41,244   
Amortization of gain on cash flow hedge    (1,841)     (415)  
Change in deferred pension    (300)     210   
Change in deferred cash flow hedge    (695)     950   

    
 

    
 

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax, where applicable    32,332      41,989   
    

 
    

 

Comprehensive income    81,831      36,599   
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests    (1)     39   

    
 

    
 

Comprehensive income attributable to Office Depot, Inc.     $ 81,832       $    36,560   
    

 

    

 

This report should be read in conjunction with the Notes herein and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2011 Form 10-K.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
   13 Weeks Ended  

   March 31,    March 26,  
   2012    2011  
Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net earnings (loss)     $ 49,499       $ (5,390)  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization    50,902      51,269   
Charges for losses on inventories and receivables    17,558      18,413   
Loss on extinguishment of debt    13,141      —   
Recovery of purchase price    (58,049)     —   
Pension plan funding    (58,030)     —   
Changes in working capital and other    (108,386)     (158,912)  

    
 

    
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (93,365)     (94,620)  
    

 
    

 

Cash flows from investing activities:     
Capital expenditures    (34,638)     (28,587)  
Acquisition, net of cash acquired    —      (72,667)  
Recovery of purchase price    49,841      —   
Release of restricted cash    8,570      46,509   
Proceeds from assets sold    9,997      4,238   

    
 

    
 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    33,770      (50,507)  
    

 
    

 

Cash flows from financing activities:     
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    528      472   
Share transactions under employee related plans    (10)     (583)  
Preferred stock dividends    —      (9,213)  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (13,141)     —   
Debt related fees    (7,637)     —   
Debt retirement    (250,000)     —   
Debt issuance    250,000      —   
Net (payments) proceeds on other long- and short-term borrowings    (6,275)     9,927   

    
 

    
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (26,535)     603   
    

 
    

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    4,223      11,253   
    

 
    

 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (81,907)     (133,271)  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    570,681      627,478   

    
 

    
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     $ 488,774       $ 494,207   
    

 

    

 

This report should be read in conjunction with the Notes herein and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2011 Form 10-K.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Note A – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation: Office Depot, Inc., including consolidated subsidiaries, (“Office Depot”) is a global supplier of office products and services. Fiscal years
are based on a 52- or 53-week period ending on the last Saturday in December. Fiscal year 2011 was a 53-week year. The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
at December 31, 2011 has been derived from audited financial statements at that date. The condensed consolidated interim financial statements as of March 31,
2012 (also referred to as “the first quarter of 2012”) and March 26, 2011 (also referred to as “the first quarter of 2011”) are unaudited. However, in our opinion,
these financial statements reflect adjustments (consisting only of normal, recurring items) necessary to provide a fair presentation of our financial position, results
of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. We have included the balance sheet from March 26, 2011 to assist in analyzing our company.

These interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results that should be expected for the full year. For a better understanding of Office Depot and its
condensed consolidated financial statements, we recommend reading these condensed interim financial statements in conjunction with the audited financial
statements which are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, filed on February 28, 2012 with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Cash Management: Our cash management process generally utilizes zero balance accounts which provide for the settlement of the related disbursement accounts
and cash concentration on a daily basis. Accounts payable and accrued expenses as of March 31, 2012, December 31, 2011 and March 26, 2011 included $57
million, $50 million and $54 million, respectively, of amounts not yet presented for payment drawn in excess of disbursement account book balances, after
considering offset provisions. We may borrow to meet working capital and other needs throughout any given quarter, which may result in higher levels of
borrowings and invested cash within the period. At the end of the quarter, excess cash may be used to minimize borrowings outstanding at the balance sheet date.
Approximately $132 million of cash and cash equivalents was held outside the U.S. at March 31, 2012.

New Accounting Pronouncements: There are no recently issued accounting standards that are expected to have a material effect on our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Note B – Debt

On February 24, 2012, the company entered into an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit
Agreement”). The Amendment provides the company flexibility with regard to certain restrictive covenants in any possible refinancings and other transactions. In
addition, the Amendment released one of the company’s subsidiaries from its guarantee obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement.

On March 14, 2012, the company issued $250 million aggregate principal amount of its 9.75% senior secured notes due March 15, 2019 (the “Notes”) with
interest payable in cash semiannually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year. The Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior
secured basis by each of the company’s existing and future domestic subsidiaries that guarantee the Amended Credit Agreement. The Notes are secured on a first-
priority basis by a lien on substantially all of the company’s domestic subsidiaries’ present and future assets, other than assets that secure the Amended Credit
Agreement, and certain of their present and future equity interests in foreign subsidiaries. The Notes are secured on a second-priority basis by a lien on the
company and its domestic subsidiaries’ assets that secure the Amended Credit Agreement. The Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March 14,
2012, among the company, the domestic subsidiaries named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Indenture”). Approximately $6.5 million
was capitalized associated with the issuance of these Notes and will be amortized through 2019.
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The terms of the Indenture provide that, among other things, the Notes and guarantees will be senior secured obligations and will: (i) rank senior in right of
payment to any future subordinated indebtedness of the company and the guarantors; (ii) rank equally in right of payment with all of the existing and future senior
indebtedness of the company and the guarantors; (iii) rank effectively junior to all existing and future indebtedness under the Amended Credit Agreement to the
extent of the value of certain collateral securing the ABL Credit Facility on a first-priority basis, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens; (iv) rank
effectively senior to all existing and future indebtedness under the Amended Credit Agreement to the extent of the value of certain collateral securing the Notes;
and (v) be structurally subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities of the company’s non-guarantor subsidiaries
(other than indebtedness and liabilities owed to the company or one of the guarantors).

The Indenture contains affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit or restrict the company’s ability to: incur additional debt or issue stock,
pay dividends, make certain investments or make other restricted payments; engage in sales of assets; and engage in consolidations, mergers and acquisitions.
However, many of these currently active covenants will cease to apply for so long as the company receives and maintains investment grade ratings from specified
debt rating services and there is no default under the Indenture. There are no maintenance financial covenants.

The Notes may be redeemed by the company, in whole or in part, at any time prior to March 15, 2016 at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus a
make-whole premium as of the redemption date and accrued and unpaid interest. Thereafter, the Notes carry optional redemption features whereby the company
has the option to redeem the Notes prior to maturity at par plus a premium beginning at 104.875% at March 15, 2016 and declining ratably to par at March 15,
2018 and thereafter, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Additionally, on or prior to March 15, 2015, the company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with the net cash proceeds from
certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 109.750% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest to the
redemption date; and, upon the occurrence of a change of control, holders of the Notes may require the company to repurchase all or a portion of the Notes in
cash at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest to the repurchase date. Change of control, as
defined in the Indenture, is a transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of Office Depot, acquisition of more than 50% of the voting power of Office Depot by
a person or group, or members of the Office Depot board of directors as previously approved by the stockholders of Office Depot ceasing to constitute a majority
of the Office Depot board of directors.

On March 15, 2012, the company repurchased $250 million aggregate principal amount of its outstanding 6.25% senior notes due 2013 under its previously
announced cash tender offer. The total consideration for each $1,000.00 note surrendered was $1,050.00. Additionally, tender fees and a proportionate amount of
deferred debt issue costs and a deferred cash flow hedge gain were included in the measurement of the $12.1 million extinguishment costs reported in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the first quarter of 2012. The cash amounts of the premium paid and tender fees are reflected as financing
activities in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Accrued interest was paid through the extinguishment date.
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Note C – Recovery of Purchase Price from Previous Acquisition

The sale and purchase agreement (“SPA”) associated with a 2003 European acquisition included a provision whereby the seller was required to pay an amount to
the company if a specified acquired pension plan was determined to be underfunded based on 2008 plan data. The unfunded obligation amount calculated by the
plan’s actuary based on that data was disputed by the seller. In accordance with the SPA, the parties entered into arbitration to resolve this matter and, in March
2011, the arbitrator found in favor of the company. The seller pursued an annulment of the award in French court. In November 2011, the seller paid GBP
5.5 million ($8.8 million, measured at then-current exchange rates) to the company to allow for future monthly payments to the pension plan, pending a court
ruling on their cancellation request. That money was placed in an escrow account with the pension plan acting as trustee. On January 6, 2012, the company and
the seller entered into a settlement agreement that settled all claims by either party for this and any other matter under the original SPA. The seller paid to
company an additional GBP 32.2 million (approximately $50 million, measured at then-current exchange rates) in February 2012. Following this cash receipt in
February 2012, the company contributed the GBP 37.7 million (approximately $58 million at then-current exchange rates) to the pension plan, resulting in the
plan changing from an unfunded liability position of approximately $49.6 million at December 31, 2011 to a net asset position at March 31, 2012 of
approximately $8.8 million. See additional pension disclosures in Note H.

This pension provision of the SPA was disclosed in 2003 and subsequent periods as a matter that would reduce goodwill when the plan was remeasured and cash
received. However, all goodwill associated with this transaction was impaired in 2008, and because the remeasurement process had not yet begun, no estimate of
the potential payment to the company could be made at that time. Consistent with disclosures subsequent to the 2008 goodwill impairment, resolution of this
matter in the first quarter of 2012 has been reflected as a credit to operating expense. The cash received from the seller, reversal of an accrued liability as a result
of the settlement agreement, fees incurred in 2012, and fee reimbursement from the seller have been reported in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Income for the first quarter of 2012 in a separate line, Recovery of purchase price, totaling $68.3 million. An additional expense of $5.2 million of costs incurred
in prior periods related to this arrangement is included in General and administrative expenses, resulting in a net increase in operating profit for the first quarter of
2012 of $63.1 million. Similar to the presentation of goodwill impairment in 2008, this recovery and related charge is reported at the corporate level, not part of
International Division operating profit.

The cash payment from the seller was received by a subsidiary of the company with the Euro as its functional currency and the pension plan funding was made by
a subsidiary with Pound Sterling as its functional currency, resulting in certain translation differences between amounts reflected in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations and the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the first quarter of 2012. The receipt of cash from the seller is presented
as a source of cash in investing activities because it is recovery of purchase price from a prior acquisition. The contribution of cash to the pension plan is
presented as a use of cash in operating activities.

Note D – Exit Costs and Other Charges

In recent years, the company has been adversely affected by increasingly competitive conditions and a downturn in global economies and has taken actions
including closing facilities, consolidating functional activities and disposing of assets. Exit costs related to these activities, including accretion on and adjustments
to previously-accrued lease balances, recognized during the first quarter of 2012 totaled approximately $25 million. Of this amount, approximately $15 million is
included in Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses and approximately $10 million is included in General and administrative expenses in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Exit cost accruals related to prior and current actions are as follows:
 

(Dollars in millions)   

Balance at
December 31,

2011    

Charges
Incurred   

Cash
Payments   

Non-cash
Settlements

and
Accretion    

Currency
and Other

Adjustments   

Balance at
March 

31,
2012  

Termination benefits       $ 12        $ 10        $ (9)         $ —        $ —        $ 13  
Lease, contract obligations and, other costs    95     13     (14)      2     —     96  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total       $ 107        $ 23        $ (23)         $ 2        $ —        $ 109  
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In addition to accruals for facilities closed as part of these activities, the company maintains accruals for facilities closed that are considered part of ongoing
operating activities. During the first quarter of 2012, approximately $2 million was charged against earnings for additional closure costs and accretion and
approximately $2 million of cash was paid on these locations. The accrued balance was approximately $12 million at December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2012.

Note E – Stockholders’ Equity

The following table reflects the changes in stockholders’ equity attributable to both Office Depot and our noncontrolling subsidiary interests.
 

(In thousands)   

Attributable to
Office Depot,

Inc.    

Attributable
to

noncontrolling
interests    Total  

Stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2011     $ 739,071       $ 214       $ 739,285   
Comprehensive income:       

Net earnings (loss)    49,503      (4)      49,499   
Other comprehensive income    32,329      3      32,332   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Comprehensive income    81,832      (1)      81,831   
Preferred stock dividends    (8,216)     —      (8,216)  
Share transactions under employee related plans    491      —      491   
Amortization of long-term incentive stock grants    2,573      —      2,573   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Stockholders’ equity at March 31, 2012     $ 815,751       $ 213       $ 815,964   
    

 

    

 

    

 

Stockholders’ equity at December 25, 2010     $ 695,496       $ 479       $ 695,975   
Comprehensive income:       

Net earnings (loss)    (5,414)     24      (5,390)  
Other comprehensive income:    41,974      15      41,989   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Comprehensive income    36,560      39      36,599   
Preferred stock dividends    (9,213)     —      (9,213)  
Share transactions under employee related plans    (115)     —      (115)  
Amortization of long-term incentive stock grants    3,116      —      3,116   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Stockholders’ equity at March 26, 2011     $ 725,844       $ 518       $    726,362   
    

 

    

 

    

 

Because of valuation allowances in multiple jurisdictions, the tax impact on elements of other comprehensive income is insignificant.
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Note F – Earnings Per Share

The following table represents the calculation of net earnings (loss) per common share:
 
   First Quarter  
(In thousands, except per share amounts)   2012    2011  

Basic Earnings Per Share     
Numerator:     
Income (loss) available to common shareholders     $  41,287       $ (14,627)  
Assumed distribution to participating securities    (2,331)     —   

    
 

    
 

Assumed undistributed earnings available to common stock    38,956      (14,627)  

Denominator:     
Weighted-average shares outstanding    278,552      276,986   

Basic earnings (loss) per common share     $   0.14       $ (0.05)  
    

 

    

 

Diluted Earnings Per Share     
Numerator:     

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Office Depot, Inc.     $  49,503       $ (5,414)  

Denominator:     
Weighted-average shares outstanding    278,552      276,986   
Effect of dilutive securities:     

Stock options and restricted stock    4,765      6,556   
Redeemable preferred stock    75,546      73,703   

    
 

    
 

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding    358,863      357,245   

Diluted earnings per common share     $   0.14      N/A   
    

 

    

 

Basic earnings per share is computed after consideration of preferred stock dividends. Shares of the redeemable preferred stock have equal dividend participation
rights with common stock. The company has never paid a dividend on common stock, but the participation provisions require application of the two-class method
for computing earnings per share. In periods of sufficient earnings, this method assumes an allocation of undistributed earnings to both participating stock classes.
For the first quarter of 2012, Basic EPS for common shares is $0.14, all undistributed. Basic EPS for the redeemable preferred shares is also $0.14, composed of
$0.11 distributed and $0.03 assumed distributed under the two-class method.

The diluted EPS calculation under the two-class method includes two tests to determine the most dilutive. These tests, and the diluted EPS calculation which
includes the dilutive impact of stock options and restricted stock under the treasury stock method and redeemable preferred stock under the if-converted method,
result in diluted EPS for the first quarter of 2012 of $0.14. The diluted EPS calculation for the first quarter of 2011 was antidulitive. The share amounts for that
period have been presented for informational purposes.

Awards of options and nonvested shares representing approximately 12 million additional shares of common stock were outstanding for the first quarter of 2012,
and 10 million for the first quarter of 2011, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect would have been
antidilutive. For purposes of calculating weighted average shares, no tax benefits have been assumed in jurisdictions where deferred tax valuation allowances
have been recorded.
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Note G – Division Information

Office Depot operates in three segments: North American Retail Division, North American Business Solutions Division, and International Division. The
following is a summary of our significant accounts and balances by segment (or “Division”), reconciled to consolidated totals.
 
    Sales  
    First Quarter  
(In thousands)   2012    2011  

North American Retail Division     $    1,219,582      $    1,320,567  
North American Business Solutions Division    827,740     806,247  
International Division    825,487     846,146  

    
 

    
 

Total     $    2,872,809      $    2,972,960  
    

 

    

 

    Division Operating Profit  
    First Quarter  
(In thousands)   2012    2011  

North American Retail Division     $ 44,411      $ 57,960  
North American Business Solutions Division    42,500     16,241  
International Division    15,216     27,305  

    
 

    
 

Total     $ 102,127      $ 101,506  
    

 

    

 

A reconciliation of the measure of Division operating profit to consolidated earnings before income taxes is as follows:   

    First Quarter  
(In thousands)   2012    2011  

Total Division operating profit     $ 102,127       $ 101,506   
Add/(subtract):     
Recovery of purchase price    68,314      —   
Charges outside of Division operating profit    (8,948)     (2,309)  
Unallocated general, administrative and corporate expenses, net    (83,803)     (80,721)  
Interest income    367      599   
Interest expense    (14,478)     (17,987)  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (12,069)     —   
Miscellaneous income, net    8,979      7,345   

    
 

    
 

Earnings before income taxes     $ 60,489       $ 8,433   
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Our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet reflects a goodwill balance of approximately $63.7 million, $61.9 million and $62.9 million as of March 31,
2012, December 31, 2011 and March 26, 2011, respectively. The gross amount of goodwill and the amount of accumulated impairment losses as of March 31,
2012 are provided in the following table:
 

(Dollars in thousands)   

North
American

Retail
Division    

North
American
Business
Solutions
Division    

International
Division    Total  

Goodwill     $ 1,842       $ 367,790       $ 905,602       $ 1,275,234   
Accumulated impairment losses    (1,842)     (348,359)     (863,134)     (1,213,335)  

Balance as of December 31, 2011    —      19,431      42,468      61,899   
2012 Changes:         

Goodwill    1,842      367,790      905,602      1,275,234   
Accumulated impairment losses    (1,842)     (348,359)     (863,134)     (1,213,335)  

   —      19,431      42,468      61,899   
Foreign currency exchange rate changes    —      —      1,751      1,751   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance as of March 31, 2012     $ —       $ 19,431       $ 44,219       $ 63,650   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The company’s accounting policy is to test for goodwill impairment during the fourth quarter each year but, should events occur or circumstances change, that
more likely than not would reduce a reporting unit’s fair value below its carrying value, that test would be accelerated. No substantive indicators have been
identified through the end of the first quarter of 2012 that would change the timing of our annual impairment test.

Note H – Employee Benefit Plans

Pension Disclosures

The components of net periodic pension cost (benefit) for our foreign pension plan are as follows:
 
    First Quarter  
(In millions)   2012    2011  

Service cost     $ —       $   —   
Interest cost    2.1      2.4   
Expected return on plan assets    (2.3)     (2.3)  

    
 

    
 

Net periodic pension cost (benefit)     $  (0.2)      $  0.1   
    

 

    

 

Following the significant contribution to the plan in February 2012, as discussed in Note C, the company remeasured the 2012 estimated net periodic pension cost
(benefit). No other assumptions in the pension calculation or target allocation of assets changed significantly from the pension valuation performed at
December 31, 2011. The change in estimated earnings on plan assets will result in a net periodic pension benefit for the balance of the year. The funding during
the first quarter of 2012 resulted in the pension plan changing from an unfunded liability position of approximately $49.6 million at December 31, 2011 to an net
asset position at March 31, 2012 of approximately $8.8 million. There are no additional funding requirements while the plan is in a surplus position.

Note I – Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the first quarter of 2012 and 2011 was 18% and 164%, respectively. The rate in 2012 is impacted by the recovery of purchase price that
is treated as a purchase price adjustment for tax purposes. As discussed in Note C, this recovery would have been a reduction of related goodwill for financial
reporting purposes, but the related goodwill was impaired in 2008. Additionally, the loss on extinguishment of debt in the United States during the first quarter of
2012 did not generate a financial statement tax benefit because of existing valuation allowances. Similarly, operating losses in other jurisdictions with valuation
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allowances do not result in deferred tax benefits being recognized in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. Accordingly, tax expense recognized in
jurisdictions with positive earnings, and no tax benefit on certain jurisdictions with losses, can cause the effective rate to be different from blended statutory rates
and, in the case of the first quarter 2011, to exceed net pretax earnings. This interim accounting is likely to result in significant variability of the effective tax rate
throughout the course of the year. Changes in income projections and the mix of income across jurisdictions could impact the effective tax rate each quarter.

We file a U.S. federal income tax return and other income tax returns in various states and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to
U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations for years before 2009. Our U.S. federal filings for 2009, 2010 and 2011 are under routine examination, and
it is reasonably possible that audits for some of these periods will be closed prior to the end of 2012. Significant international tax jurisdictions include the UK, the
Netherlands, France and Germany. Generally, we are subject to routine examination for years 2006 and forward in these jurisdictions. It is reasonably possible
that certain of these audits will close within the next 12 months, which could result in a decrease of as much as $2.6 million or an increase of as much as $1.0
million to our accrued uncertain tax positions. Additionally, we anticipate that it is reasonably possible that new issues will be raised or resolved by tax authorities
that may require changes to the balance of unrecognized tax benefits, however, an estimate of such changes cannot reasonably be made.

As part of the ongoing 2009 and 2010 audits, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has proposed a deemed royalty assessment from our foreign operations
with a tax and penalty amount of approximately $126 million. The company disagrees with this assessment and, based on the technical merits of this issue,
believes that no accrual is required at this time. The company is working with its outside tax advisors and the IRS to resolve this dispute in a timely manner. To
the extent the IRS prevails on this issue, the income statement impact may be lowered because of available net operating losses and other deferred tax assets.

Note J – Fair Value Measurements

The company measures fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. In developing its fair value estimates, the company uses the following hierarchy:
 
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data. Generally, these fair value measures are model-based valuation

techniques such as discounted cash flows or option pricing models using our own estimates and assumptions or those expected to be used by
market participants.

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate their carrying values
because of their short-term nature.

The fair values of our interest rate swaps, foreign currency contracts and fuel contracts are the amounts receivable or payable to terminate the agreements at the
reporting date, taking into account current interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices. The values are based on market-based inputs or unobservable
inputs that are corroborated by market data. There were no interest rate swap agreements in place at the end of the first quarter of 2012 and the amounts
receivable or payable under foreign currency and fuel contracts were not significant. See Note K for additional information on our derivative instruments and
hedging activities.
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The following table summarizes the company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
 
   Level 2  
(In thousands)   Fair Value Measurement Category  

   

March 31,
2012    

December 31,
2011    

March 26,
2011  

Assets       
Commodity contracts—fuel     $   790       $ —       $   4,511   
Foreign exchange contracts    341      341      633   

Liabilities:       
Commodity contracts—fuel    —       $   251      —   
Foreign exchange contracts     $   435      92       $ 331   

The company records its senior notes payable at par value, adjusted for amortization of a fair value hedge which was cancelled in 2005. The fair value of the
senior notes and the senior secured notes are considered Level 2 fair value measurements and are based on market trades of these securities on or about the dates
below.
 
   March 31, 2012    December 31, 2011    March 26, 2011  
(In thousands)

  

Carrying
Value    

Fair
Value    

Carrying
Value    

Fair
Value    

Carrying
Value    

Fair
Value  

$400 million senior notes     $150,027        $155,637        $399,953        $381,067        $400,032        $404,800    
$250 million senior secured notes     $250,000        $259,379       —       —       —       —    

Fair Value Estimates Used in Impairment Analyses

With input from retail store operations, company accounting and finance personnel that organizationally report to the chief financial officer assess the
performance of retail stores quarterly against historic patterns and projections of future profitability for evidence of possible asset impairment. For the retail
business, these projections are based on management’s estimates of store-level sales, gross margins, direct expenses and resulting cash flows and, by their nature,
include judgments about how current initiatives will impact future performance. Changes in sales and operating income assumptions can significantly impact the
estimated future cash flows. If the anticipated cash flows of a store cannot support the carrying value of its assets, the assets are impaired and written down to
estimated fair value using Level 3 inputs.

During the first quarter of 2012, the Division recognized an impairment charge of approximately $18 million based on revised operating projections for certain
lower operating stores in the Division. The operating performance for these stores was less than the company had projected for the first quarter, causing us to
reevaluate our projections of future operating cash flows for these stores. The revised projections of future cash flows resulted in this impairment charge. The
charge related to 56 stores, with 27 reduced to estimated fair value of approximately $7.4 million based on a discounted cash flow analysis, discounted at 11%,
and 29 reduced to estimated salvage value of operating assets of $1.7 million. The sales and operating projections are specific to the individual locations impaired
and are not indicative of the expected operations for the remainder of stores in our retail chain. The company will continue to evaluate initiatives to improve
performance and lower operating costs, including reducing the size of stores when it is considered appropriate. To the extent that forward-looking sales and
operating assumptions are not achieved and are subsequently reduced, or if the company commits to a more aggressive store downsizing strategy, including
allocating capital to modify store formats, additional impairment charges may result. However, at the end of the first quarter 2012, the impairment analysis
reflects the company’s best estimate of future performance, including the intended future use of the company’s retail store assets.

Unobservable inputs applied to the stores that were partially impaired include average sales growth rates over the remaining life of the lease, including one
renewal period, where applicable, of 1.9% for stores less than 5 years old and 1.2% for stores 5 years and older. A 100 basis point decrease in sales used in these
estimates would have increased impairment by approximately $7 million. Independent of the sensitivity on sales assumptions, a 50 basis point decrease in gross
margin would have increased the impairment by approximately $9 million. The interrelationship of having both of those inputs change as indicated would have
resulted in impairment approximately $1 million less than the sum of the two individual inputs.
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Fair Value Estimates Used for Paid-in-Kind Dividends

The company’s board of directors can elect to pay quarterly dividends on its preferred stock in cash or in-kind. Paid-in-kind dividends are measured at fair value,
using Level 3 inputs. The company uses a monte carlo simulation that captures the call, conversion, and interest rate reset features as well the optionality of
paying the dividend in-kind or in cash. This feature considers a liquidity measure over stock price across various outcomes as a proxy for the future cash or in-
kind dividend decision. The board of directors and company management consider then-current and estimated future liquidity factors in making that quarterly
decision. For the first quarter of 2012 valuation, the simulation was based on a beginning stock price of $3.45, stock price volatility of 60.7%, a risk free rate of
3.4%, credit spread of 16.5% and a beginning liquidity measure of approximately $245 million. The calculation resulted in a fair value estimate of approximately
$8.2 million for the first quarter of 2012. A stock price volatility of 55% or 65% would have increased the estimate by $0.4 million or decreased the estimate by
$0.3 million, respectively. Using a beginning of period stock price of $3.00 or $4.00 would have decreased the estimate by $0.5 million or increased the estimate
by $0.5 million, respectively.

Note K – Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity

As a global supplier of office products and services we are exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and
interest rates. Our foreign operations are typically, but not exclusively, conducted in the currency of the local environment. We are exposed to the risk of foreign
currency exchange rate changes when we make purchases, sell products, or arrange financings that are denominated in a currency different from the entity’s
functional currency. Depending on the settlement timeframe and other factors, we may enter into foreign currency derivative transactions to mitigate those risks.
We may designate and account for such qualifying arrangements as hedges. Gains and losses on these cash flow hedging transactions are deferred in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and recognized in earnings in the same period as the hedged item. Transactions that are not designated as cash flow hedges are
marked to market at each period with changes in value included in earnings. Historically, we have not entered into transactions to hedge our net investment in
foreign operations but may in future periods.

We also are exposed to the risk of changing fuel prices from inbound and outbound transportation arrangements. The structure of many of these transportation
arrangements, however, precludes applying hedge accounting. In those circumstances, we may enter into derivative transactions to offset the risk of commodity
price changes, and the value of the derivative contract is marked to market at each reporting period with changes recognized in earnings. To the extent fuel
arrangements qualify for hedge accounting, gains and losses are deferred in OCI until such time as the hedged item impacts earnings. At the end of the first
quarter of 2012, the company had a series of monthly option contracts for approximately 7.2 million gallons of fuel through January 2013 that may or may not be
executed. These contracts are not designated as hedging instruments.

Interest rate changes on our obligations may result from external market factors, as well as changes in our credit rating or availability on our asset based credit
facility. We manage our exposure to interest rate risks at the corporate level. Interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities are monitored and assessed for market risk.
Currently, no interest rate related derivative arrangements are in place. OCI includes the deferred gain from a hedge contract terminated in a prior period, net of
the portion that was recognized as a component of the loss on extinguishment of debt during the first quarter of 2012. This deferral is being amortized to interest
expense through 2013.

In certain markets, we may contract with third parties for our future electricity needs. Such arrangements are not considered derivatives because they are within
the ordinary course of business and are for physical delivery. Accordingly, these arrangements are not included in the tables below.

Financial instruments authorized under the company’s established risk management policy include spot trades, swaps, options, caps, collars, forwards and futures.
Use of derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes is expressly prohibited.

The following tables provide information on our hedging and derivative positions and activity.
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Fair value of derivative instruments
 
 

(Dollars in thousands)   Balance sheet location   

March 31,
2012    

December 31,
2011    

March 26,
2011  

   
 

Derivatives designated as hedging
instruments:         
Foreign exchange contracts   Other current assets     $ —        $ 284        $ 633    
Foreign exchange contracts   Other current liabilities    392       —       —    

Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments:         
Foreign exchange contracts   Other current assets     $ 341        $ 57        $ —    
Foreign exchange contracts   Other current liabilities    43       92       331    
Commodity contracts – fuel   Other current assets    790       —       4,511    
Commodity contracts – fuel   Other current liabilities    —       251       —    

      
 

    
 

    
 

Total derivative assets       $ 1,131        $ 341        $ 5,144    
      

 

    

 

    

 

Total derivative liabilities       $ 435        $ 343        $ 331    
      

 

    

 

    

 

 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments   

Location of gain/(loss)
recognized in earnings   

Amount of gain/(loss)
recognized in earnings  

(Dollars in thousands)
     

March 31,
2012    

March 26,
2011  

Foreign exchange contracts   Miscellaneous income (expense), net     $ 1,044       $ (331)  
Commodity contracts – fuel

  

Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs & Store and
warehouse operating and selling expenses*    1,041      4,463   

      
 

    
 

Total       $ 2,085       $ 4,132   
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Derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges:   

Amount of gain/(loss)
recognized in OCI    

Location of gain/(loss)
reclassified from OCI

into earnings   

Amount of gain/(loss)
    reclassified from OCI    

into earnings  
(Dollars in thousands)

  

March 31,
2012    

March 26,
2011       

March 31,
2012    

March 26,
2011  

Foreign exchange contracts
    $ (395)    $ 725     

Cost of goods sold and occupancy
costs     $ —       $ (234)  

   —      —     
Miscellaneous income (expense),

net    299      —   
    

 
    

 
      

 
    

 

Total     $ (395)    $ 725         $ 299       $ (234)  
    

 

    

 

      

 

    

 

 
* Approximately 60% of the amounts for 2012 and 2011 are reflected in cost of goods sold and occupancy costs. The remaining 40% of the amounts are

reflected in store and warehouse operating and selling expenses.

The existing hedge contracts are highly effective and the ineffective portion is considered immaterial. As of March 31, 2012, the foreign exchange contracts
extend through July 2012. Losses currently deferred in OCI are expected to be recognized in earnings within the next twelve months. There were no hedging
arrangements requiring collateral. However, we may be required to provide collateral on certain arrangements in the future. The fair values of our foreign
currency contracts and fuel contracts are the amounts receivable or payable to terminate the agreements at the reporting date, taking into account current exchange
rates. The values are based on market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.

Note L – Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Venture

Since 1994, we have participated in a joint venture in Mexico, Office Depot de Mexico. Because we participate equally in this business with a partner, we account
for this investment using the equity method. Our proportionate share of Office Depot de Mexico’s net income is presented in miscellaneous income, net in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following tables provide summarized unaudited information from the balance sheets and statements of earnings for Office Depot de Mexico:
 

(In thousands)   

March 31,
2012    

December 31,
2011    

March 26,
2011  

Current assets     $ 336,265      $ 301,789      $ 333,581  
Non-current assets    310,980     310,228     300,915  
Current liabilities    206,220     191,008     190,900  
Non-current liabilities    3,296     2,926     2,936  
 
   First quarter  
(In thousands)        2012             2011     

Sales     $ 284,652      $ 271,839  
Gross profit    82,504     77,813  
Net income    16,572     17,408  

Note M – Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course of our business. While, from time to time, claims are asserted that make demands for a large sum of
money (including, from time to time, actions which are asserted to be maintainable as class action suits), we do not believe that contingent liabilities related to
these matters (including the matters discussed below), either individually or in the aggregate, will materially affect our financial position, results of our operations
or cash flows.

On April 6, 2011, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against the company and certain current and former executive officers alleging violations of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and seeking damages, fees, costs and equitable relief. The allegations made in this lawsuit primarily relate to the company’s
previous financial
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disclosures and reports regarding the certain tax losses described below. The lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
Florida captioned as Climo v. Office Depot, Inc, Steve Odland, Michael D. Newman and Neil R. Austrian. The Court granted a request by the Central Laborers’
Pension Fund (“CLPF”) to appoint it as lead plaintiff in the case and the CLPF filed its amended complaint on September 6, 2011. The company filed a motion to
dismiss the Complaint in November 2011, and that motion is currently pending before the Court.

On June 17, 2011, a derivative lawsuit was filed against certain current and former executive officers and the company, generally alleging that the officers
breached their fiduciary duties. The allegations in this lawsuit primarily relate to the company’s previous financial disclosures and reports regarding the certain
tax losses described below. The derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida captioned as Long v. Steve
Odland, Michael D. Newman and Neil R. Austrian, defendants, and Office Depot, Inc., nominal defendant. The Special Litigation Committee (the “SLC”)
appointed by the company’s Board of Directors to review the allegations issued its report on January 9, 2012. As set forth in the report, the SLC determined that
the claims alleged in the Complaint should be dismissed. Accordingly, the company filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint on March 26, 2012. Under the
current Scheduling Order, plaintiff’s opposition brief is due on June 11, 2012 and the company’s reply brief is due on July 12, 2012.

The allegations made in the above lawsuits primarily relate to the company’s previous financial disclosures and reports regarding certain tax losses. On March 31,
2011, Office Depot announced that the Internal Revenue Service had denied the company’s claim to carry back certain tax losses to prior tax years under
economic stimulus-based tax legislation enacted in 2009. As a result, on April 6, 2011, the company restated its financial results to revise the accounting treatment
regarding its original tax position. The periods covered by the restatement were the fiscal year ended December 25, 2010 and each of the quarters ended June 26,
2010 and September 25, 2010.

In addition, in the ordinary course of business, our sales to and transactions with government customers may be subject to investigations, audits and review by
governmental authorities and regulatory agencies, with which we cooperate. Many of these investigations, audits and reviews are resolved without
incident. While claims in these matters may at times assert large demands, we do not believe that contingent liabilities related to these matters, either individually
or in the aggregate, will materially affect our financial position, results of our operations or cash flows. Among such matters, during the first quarter of 2011, we
were notified that the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) commenced an investigation into certain pricing practices related to an expired agreement that
was in place between January 2, 2006 and January 1, 2011, pursuant to which state, local and non-profit agencies could purchase office supplies. We are
cooperating with the DOJ on this investigation.

As discussed in Note I, the company has received a proposed tax and penalty assessment from the IRS totaling approximately $126 million. The company
disagrees with this assessment.

Note N – Acquisition

On February 25, 2011, the company acquired all of the shares of Svanströms Gruppen (Frans Svanströms & Co AB), a supplier of office products and services
headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden to complement the company’s existing business in that region. As part of this all-cash transaction, the company recognized
approximately $46 million of non-deductible goodwill, primarily attributable to anticipated synergies, $20 million of amortizing intangible assets for customer
relationships and proprietary names, as well as net working capital and property and equipment. The amortizing intangible assets had a weighted average life of
6.9 years at the acquisition date. Operations have been included in the International Division results since the date of acquisition. Supplemental pro forma
information as if the entities were combined at earlier periods is not provided based on materiality considerations.

Note O – Subsequent Events

On April 6, 2012, the company received a Private Letter Ruling from the IRS, granting the company permission to elect a repairs and maintenance accounting
method change and carryback the associated tax losses to its 2006 tax year. However, the company does not anticipate receiving the incremental tax refund from
this claim until the imputed royalty dispute with the IRS has been resolved.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

GENERAL

Office Depot, Inc., together with our subsidiaries, is a global supplier of office products and services. We sell to consumers and businesses of all sizes through our
three segments (or “Divisions”): North American Retail Division, North American Business Solutions Division, and International Division.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to provide information to assist you in better
understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results of operations. We recommend that you read this MD&A in conjunction with our condensed
consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as well as our 2011 Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

This MD&A contains significant amounts of forward-looking information. Without limitation, when we use the words “believe,” “estimate,” “plan,” “expect,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “continue,” “may,” “project,” “probably,” “should,” “could,” “will” and similar expressions in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we are
identifying forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995). Our discussion of Risk Factors, found in
Item 1A of this Form 10-Q and our 2011 Form 10-K, and Forward-Looking Statements, found immediately following the MD&A in our 2011 Form 10-K, apply
to these forward-looking statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

A summary of certain factors impacting results for the first quarter of 2012 is provided below and further discussed in the narrative that follows this overview.
 
•  Sales in the first quarter of 2012 decreased 3% compared to the first quarter of 2011.
 •  Sales in the North American Retail Division decreased 8%; comparable store sales decreased 6%.
 •  Sales in the North American Business Solutions Division increased 3%.
 •  International Division sales decreased 2% in U.S. dollars, but increased 1% in constant currencies.
•  Gross margin increased approximately 120 basis points in the first quarter of 2012 compared to the first quarter of 2011, with increases recognized in all

Divisions.
•  Total operating expenses decreased for the first quarter of 2012 when compared to the first quarter of 2011. However, total operating expenses in 2012

include a benefit of approximately $68 million as recovery of purchase price from a prior business combination, $5 million of costs associated with that
recovery, and approximately $23 million of restructuring-related charges and other costs intended to improve efficiency and benefit operations in future
periods. Additionally, a non-cash impairment charge of approximately $18 million was recognized in the North America Retail Division, reflecting a first
quarter 2012 downturn in sales at certain lower performing stores.

•  The cash portion of the Recovery of purchase price is presented as a source of cash in investing activities and the contribution of that cash to the
previously-acquired pension plan is presented as a use of cash in operating activities.

•  The company issued $250 million of 9.75% senior secured notes due March 15, 2019. Additionally, the company repurchased $250 million of 6.25% senior
notes due 2013 under its previously announced cash tender offer. The repurchase resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $12.1 million in the first
quarter of 2012.

•  The effective tax rate for the first quarter of 2012 was 18% compared to 164% for the same period in 2011. The rate in 2012 reflects the impact of treating
the Recovery of purchase price as a non-taxable return of purchase price. Additionally, both periods were affected by valuation allowances limiting tax
benefit recognition. The company continues to carry significant deferred tax asset valuation allowances that can cause the effective tax rate to show
substantial volatility in interim periods.

•  Diluted earnings per share were $0.14 for the first quarter of 2012 compared to loss per share of $0.05 for the same period in 2011.
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DIVISION RESULTS

North American Retail Division
 
   First Quarter  
(Dollars in millions)   2012    2011  

Sales   $1,219.6    $1,320.6  
% change    (8)%     (2)%  

Division operating profit   $ 44.4    $ 58.0  
% of sales    3.6%     4.4%  

First quarter sales in the North American Retail Division were $1.2 billion, a decrease of 8% compared to the prior year. Because fiscal year 2011 was a 53 week
year ending on December 31, first quarter 2012 sales benefited from having fewer selling days impacted by holidays compared to the first quarter of
2011. However, store closures throughout 2011, including the 10 remaining stores in Canada during the second quarter of 2011, negatively impacted total sales
for the first quarter of 2012. After considering the holiday shift and store closures, it is estimated that the combined impact on first quarter 2012 sales would have
been approximately offsetting. Comparable store sales in the 1,096 stores that have been open for more than one year decreased 6% for the first quarter of 2012.
The decline in comparable sales of computers and related products, contributed significantly to the Division’s overall comparable sales decline. The decline
reflects the Division’s continued focus on improving the profitability of the business by taking a more strategic approach to the product assortment, pricing and
promotion. Customers switching from laptop computers to tablets contributed to lower sales but improved product margins. Furniture sales were lower in 2012
compared to the first quarter of 2011 reflecting promotional activity last year that was not repeated. Sales in our Copy and Print Depot increased, while sales of
paper, ink and toner sales decreased. Average order value was slightly negative and customer transaction counts declined approximately 5% compared to the same
period last year.

The North American Retail Division reported an operating profit of approximately $44 million in the first quarter of 2012, compared to approximately $58
million in the same period of 2011.

During the first quarter of 2012, the Division recognized an impairment charge of approximately $18 million based on revised operating projections for the lower
operating stores in the Division. The company reviews stores for possible impairment quarterly and recognized impairment charges of $4 million and $6 million
in the third and fourth quarters of 2011, respectively. The operating performance for these stores was less than the company had projected for the first quarter,
causing us to reevaluate our projections of future operating cash flows for these stores. The revised projections of future cash flows resulted in this impairment
charge. The charge related to 56 stores, with 27 reduced to estimated fair value based on a discounted cash flow analysis and 29 reduced to estimated salvage
value of the operating assets. The sales and operating projections are specific to the individual locations impaired and are not indicative of the expected operations
for the remainder of stores in our retail chain. The company will continue to evaluate initiatives to improve performance and lower operating costs, including
reducing the size of stores when it is considered appropriate. To the extent that forward-looking sales and operating assumptions are not achieved and are
subsequently reduced, or if the company commits to a more aggressive store downsizing strategy, including allocating capital to modify store formats, additional
impairment charges may result. However, at the end of the first quarter 2012, the impairment analysis reflects the company’s best estimate of future performance,
including the intended future use of the company’s retail store assets.

After considering the impairment charge, the first quarter 2012 operating profit reflects gross margin improvements from the sales mix of supplies and technology
products, better management of pricing and promotions, and lower property costs. These benefits, and lower advertising and payroll costs, were partially offset by
the negative flow through effect of lower sales.

At the end of the first quarter of 2012, the North American Retail Division operated 1,123 stores. During the first quarter of 2012, we opened one store and closed
nine stores.
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North American Business Solutions Division
 
   First Quarter  
(Dollars in millions)   2012    2011  

Sales   $827.7    $806.2  
% change    3%     (3)%  

Division operating profit   $ 42.5    $ 16.2  
% of sales    5.1%     2.0%  

First quarter sales in the North American Business Solutions Division were approximately $828 million, a 3% increase compared to the first quarter of 2011.
After considering benefit in the first quarter of 2012 from the holiday shift, we estimate that sales would have been approximately equal to the same period of the
prior year. First quarter 2012 sales in the direct channel increased 2%, compared to the same period in 2011, while sales in the contract channel increased 3%.
Contract channel sales to both large and global accounts increased; however, sales to public sector customers declined, reflecting their continued budgetary
pressures. Sales to small- to medium-sized business customers were relatively equal to sales in the prior year. Sales of supplies, including paper and ink and toner,
were lower, partially offset by increases in sales in Copy and Print Depot, printers, seating, and the cleaning and break room categories.

The North American Business Solutions Division reported operating profit of approximately $43 million in the first quarter of 2012, compared to $16 million in
the same period of the prior year. This increase reflects approximately 170 basis points of higher gross margins from initiatives to better manage pricing and from
the mix of product sales, partially offset by higher supply chain expenses and somewhat higher payroll to support the sales organization.

International Division
 
   First Quarter  
(Dollars in millions)   2012    2011  

Sales   $825.5    $846.1  
% change    (2)%     (5)%  
% change in constant currency sales    1%     (6)%  

Division operating profit   $ 15.2    $ 27.3  
% of sales    1.8%     3.2%  

The International Division reported first quarter 2012 sales of approximately $825 million, reflecting a decrease of 2% in U.S. dollars and an increase of 1% in
constant currencies compared to the first quarter of 2011. The International Division estimates that first quarter 2012 sales reflect approximately $30 million of
benefit from the shift in holidays. The contract channel sales in constant currency increased overall with growth in the U.K. and Germany being partially offset by
weakness in sales in other European countries. First quarter 2012 sales in the direct channel were lower across the Division. This negative trend in direct sales
will continue to be an area of focus for the company. The retail channel sales increased in both Europe and Asia compared to the first quarter of 2011, with
European retail benefiting from the acquisition in Sweden in the first quarter of 2011.

The International Division operating profit for the first quarter of 2012 was approximately $15 million, compared to $27 million in the same period of 2011.
Included in this measure of Division operating profit is approximately $18 million of charges in 2012. These charges include an $11 million adjustment to closed
facility accruals after negotiations on a previously-pending transaction for the transfer of a closed distribution center were terminated. The adjustment assumes a
period without a tenant as well as an estimate of lease incentives. The charges also include approximately $7 million primarily related to severance costs for
restructuring activities in several European locations. These activities are intended to consolidate and streamline future operations. Similar charges in the first
quarter of 2011 were approximately $6 million. After considering the charges in both periods, Division operating profit increased from operational improvements
and lower costs. However, Division operating profit for the first quarter of 2012 included an estimated benefit from the flow through of the shift in holidays that
will not recur.
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CORPORATE AND OTHER

Recovery of purchase price

The sale and purchase agreement (“SPA”) associated with a 2003 European acquisition included a provision whereby the seller was required to pay an amount to
the company if a specified acquired pension plan was calculated to be underfunded based on 2008 plan data. The amount calculated by the plan’s actuary was
disputed by the seller but upheld by an independent arbitrator. The seller continued to dispute the award until both parties reached a settlement agreement in
January 2012 and the seller paid approximately GBP 37.7 million to the company, including GBP 5.5 million placed in escrow in 2011. Under the terms of the
SPA, and in agreement with the pension plan trustees, the company contributed the cash received, net of certain fees, to the pension plan. This contribution caused
the plan to go from a net liability position at the end of 2011 to a net asset position of approximately $8.8 million at March 31, 2012. Because the goodwill
associated with this transaction was fully impaired in 2008, this recovery is recognized in the first quarter 2012 statement of operations. Also, consistent with the
presentation in 2008, this recovery is reported at the corporate level and not included in the determination of International Division operating profit.

The $68.3 million Recovery of purchase price includes recognition of the cash received from the seller, certain fees incurred and reimbursed, as well as the
release of an accrued liability as the settlement agreement releases any and all claims under the SPA. An additional expense of approximately $5.2 million related
to this arrangement is included in General and administrative expenses, resulting in a net increase in operating profit for the first quarter of 2012 of $63.1 million.
The transaction is treated as a non-taxable return of purchase price for tax purposes.

The cash payment from the seller was received by a subsidiary of the company with the Euro as its functional currency and the pension plan funding was made by
a subsidiary with Pound Sterling as its functional currency, resulting in certain translation differences between amounts reflected in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations and the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the first quarter of 2012. The receipt of cash from the seller is presented
as a source of cash in investing activities. The contribution of cash to the pension plan is presented as a use of cash in operating activities. See Note C of the
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

General and Administrative Expenses

The portion of General and Administrative (“G&A”) expenses considered directly or closely related to unit activity is included in the measurement of Division
operating profit. Other companies may charge more or less G&A expenses and other costs to their segments, and our results therefore may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures used by other entities. Our measure of Division operating profit should not be considered as an alternative to operating income or net
earnings determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Total G&A increased from $166 million in the first quarter of 2011to $178 million in the first quarter of 2012. A breakdown of total G&A between the portion
included in Division results and the portion considered corporate expenses is provided in the following table:
 
   First Quarter  
(In millions)   2012    2011  

Division G&A     $ 86.3      $ 86.8  
Corporate G&A    91.6     79.0  

    
 

    
 

Total G&A     $177.9      $165.8  
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Total G&A includes restructuring and business process improvement charges of approximately $16 million and $6 million for the first quarter 2012 and 2011,
respectively. In 2012, approximately $9 million was included in Corporate G&A; the remainder was included in determination of Division operating profit
discussed above. Corporate G&A in 2011 included approximately $2 million of charges. Net of these charges, Corporate G&A increased approximately $6
million relating to higher relative variable pay in 2012 and additional project costs and personnel intended to improve performance in future periods.

Corporate expenses included in store and warehouse operating and selling expenses for the first quarter 2012 were approximately $1 million compared to
approximately $4 million in the same period last year. The activity primarily relates to accretion, adjustments and settlements of lease obligations from facilities
closed in prior years following our strategic review. The lease accretion is expected to total $7 million for the remainder of 2012, but net corporate amounts may
be impacted by gains, losses and adjustments related to the closed properties and leases that cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Other income (expense)

The decrease in interest expense for the first quarter of 2012 compared to the same period of 2011 is attributable to lower interest accruals on uncertain tax
positions following settlements recognized in 2011, lower short term borrowings and lower fees associated with the company’s asset based lending facility.

On March 15, 2012, the company completed the early settlement of its previously announced cash tender offer to purchase up to $250 million aggregate principal
amount of its outstanding 6.25% senior notes due 2013. The total consideration for each $1,000.00 note surrendered was $1,050.00. Additionally, tender fees and
a proportionate amount of deferred debt issue costs and a deferred cash flow hedge gain were included in the measurement of the $12.1 million extinguishment
costs reported in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the first quarter of 2012.

Miscellaneous income, net is primarily attributable to earnings from our joint venture in Mexico, Office Depot de Mexico. The increase in miscellaneous income,
net for the first quarter of 2012 reflects earnings from the joint venture in Mexico of approximately $8 million in both periods, higher gains from the company’s
deferred compensation plan, partially offset by higher foreign currency losses in 2012 compared to 2011.

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the first quarter of 2012 and 2011 was 18% and 164%, respectively. The rate in 2012 is impacted by the Recovery of purchase price that
is being treated as a purchase price adjustment for tax purposes. Additionally, the loss on extinguishment of debt in the United States during the first quarter of
2012 did not generate a financial statement tax benefit because of existing valuation allowances. Similarly, operating losses in other jurisdictions with valuation
allowances do not result in deferred tax benefits being recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. Accordingly, tax expense recognized in
jurisdictions with positive earnings, and no tax benefit on certain jurisdictions with losses, can cause the effective rate to be different from blended statutory rates
and, in the case of the first quarter 2011, to exceed net pretax earnings. This interim accounting is likely to result in significant variability of the effective tax rate
throughout the course of the year. Changes in income projections and the mix of income across jurisdictions could impact the effective tax rate each quarter.

We file a U.S. federal income tax return and other income tax returns in various states and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to
U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations for years before 2009. Our U.S. federal filings for 2009, 2010 and 2011 are under routine examination, and
it is reasonably possible that audits for some of these periods will be closed prior to the end of 2012. Significant international tax jurisdictions include the UK, the
Netherlands, France and Germany. Generally, we are subject to routine examination for years 2006 and forward in these jurisdictions. It is reasonably possible
that certain of these audits will close within the next 12 months, which could result in a decrease of as much as $2.6 million or an increase of as much as $1.0
million to our accrued uncertain tax positions. Additionally, we anticipate that it is reasonably possible that new issues will be raised or resolved by tax authorities
that may require changes to the balance of unrecognized tax benefits, however, an estimate of such changes cannot reasonably be made.
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As part of the ongoing 2009 and 2010 audits, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has proposed a deemed royalty assessment from our foreign operations
with a tax and penalty amount of approximately $126 million. The company disagrees with this assessment and, based on the technical merits of this issue,
believes that no accrual is required at this time. The company is working with its outside tax advisors and the IRS to resolve this dispute in a timely manner. To
the extent the IRS prevails on this issue, the income statement impact may be lowered because of available net operating losses and other deferred tax assets.

New Accounting Pronouncements

There are no recently issued accounting standards that are expected to have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At March 31, 2012, we had approximately $488.8 million in cash and equivalents and another $704.2 million available under the Amended Credit Agreement
based on the March borrowing base certificate, for a total liquidity of approximately $1.2 billion. We consider our resources adequate to satisfy our cash needs for
at least the next twelve months.

At March 31, 2012, no amounts were drawn under the Amended Credit Agreement. The maximum month end amount outstanding during the first quarter of 2012
occurred in February at approximately $13 million. There were letters of credit outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement at the end of the quarter
totaling approximately $112 million. An additional $0.2 million of letters of credit were outstanding under separate agreements. Average borrowings under the
Amended Credit Agreement in the first quarter of 2012 were approximately $3 million at an average interest rate of 2.6%. The maximum monthly average in the
first quarter of 2012 occurred in February at approximately $7 million.

We also had short-term borrowings of $15 million at March 31, 2012 under various local currency credit facilities for our international subsidiaries that had an
effective interest rate at the end of the first quarter of approximately 1.8%. The maximum month end amount and maximum monthly average amount occurred in
March at approximately $15 million. The majority of these short-term borrowings represent outstanding balances on uncommitted lines of credit, which do not
contain financial covenants.

The company was in compliance with all applicable financial covenants at March 31, 2012.

Dividends on the company’s redeemable preferred stock are payable quarterly, and will be paid in-kind or in cash, only to the extent that the company has funds
legally available for such payment and a cash dividend is declared by the company’s board of directors. Dividends during 2012 have been paid in kind. Dividends
for the first quarter of 2011 were paid in cash.

During the first quarter of 2012, cash used by operating activities was approximately $93 million, compared to a use of approximately $95 million during the
same period last year. During the 2012 period, the company recognized a credit in earnings as the recovery from a business combination. The cash portion of this
recovery is reclassified out of earnings and reflected as a source of cash in investing activities. Additionally, that cash was required by the original purchase
agreement to be contributed to the acquired pension plan. That pension funding during the first quarter of 2012 is presented as a use of cash in operating
activities.

Changes in net working capital and other components for the first quarter of 2012 resulted in a $108 million use of cash compared to a $159 million use in the
same period last year. This lesser use of cash in 2012 reflects a lower decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses, partially offset by a lower decrease in
accounts receivable and inventories. Working capital is influenced by a number of factors including the flow of goods, credit terms, timing of promotions, vendor
production planning, new product introductions and working capital management. For our accounting policy on cash management, see Note A of the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Cash provided by investing activities was approximately $34 million in the first quarter of 2012, compared to a use of cash of approximately $51 million in the
same period last year. The source of cash for the 2012 period reflects the Recovery of purchase price of $50 million discussed above, release of restricted cash
associated with the same business combination of $9 million and proceeds from assets sold of $10 million. Capital expenditures were $35 million in the first
quarter of 2012. Cash used by investing activities in the first quarter of 2011 of $51 million reflects capital expenditure of $29 million and approximately $73
million to complete the acquisition of an entity in Sweden, partially offset by the release of restricted cash related to the Sweden acquisition that was held in
escrow at December 25, 2010. During the first quarter of 2011, we received approximately $4 million from the disposition of assets.

Cash used in financing activities was approximately $27 million for the first quarter of 2012, compared to a source of cash of $0.6 million in the same period last
year. During the first quarter of 2012 the company completed the early settlement of its previously announced cash tender offer to purchase up to $250 million
aggregate principal amount of its outstanding 6.25% senior notes due 2013. The company also issued $250 million aggregate principal amount of 9.75% senior
secured notes due March 15, 2019. The tender activity resulted in a $13 million cash loss on extinguishment of debt. Additionally, new issuance costs and costs to
amend a separate borrowing agreement totaled $8 million. Net payments on other long and short-term borrowings for the period amounted to $6 million. The
dividend on preferred stock was paid in kind during the first quarter of 2012. The source of cash from financing activities during the first quarter of 2011 of $0.6
million resulted from payment of approximately $9 million cash dividends on our preferred stock offset by net proceeds of approximately $10 million on short-
term and long-term borrowings.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Preparation of these statements requires management to make judgments and estimates. Some accounting policies have a significant impact on amounts
reported in these financial statements. A summary of significant accounting policies and a description of accounting policies that are considered critical may be
found in our 2011 Form 10-K, filed on February 28, 2012, in Note A of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Critical Accounting Policies
section of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risks

At March 31, 2012, there had not been a material change in the interest rate risk information disclosed in the “Market Sensitive Risks and Positions” subsection of
the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations set forth in Item 7 of our 2011 Form 10-K.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risks

At March 31, 2012, there had not been a material change in any of the foreign exchange risk information disclosed in the “Market Sensitive Risks and Positions”
subsection of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations set forth in Item 7 of our 2011 Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
in this report is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the possible controls and
procedures. Each reporting period, the company carries out an evaluation, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), and Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Act”).

Based on management’s evaluation, as of March 31, 2012, the company’s CEO and CFO concluded that the company’s disclosure controls and procedures were
effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the company in reports that the company files or submits under the Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course of our business. While, from time to time, claims are asserted that make demands for a large sum of
money (including, from time to time, actions which are asserted to be maintainable as class action suits), we do not believe that contingent liabilities related to
these matters (including the matters discussed below), either individually or in the aggregate, will materially affect our financial position, results of our operations
or cash flows.

On April 6, 2011, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against the company and certain current and former executive officers alleging violations of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and seeking damages, fees, costs and equitable relief. The allegations made in this lawsuit primarily relate to the company’s
previous financial disclosures and reports regarding the certain tax losses described below. The lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida captioned as Climo v. Office Depot, Inc, Steve Odland, Michael D. Newman and Neil R. Austrian. The Court granted a request by the
Central Laborers’ Pension Fund (“CLPF”) to appoint it as lead plaintiff in the case and the CLPF filed its amended complaint on September 6, 2011. The
company filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint in November 2011, and that motion is currently pending before the Court.

On June 17, 2011, a derivative lawsuit was filed against certain current and former executive officers and the company, generally alleging that the officers
breached their fiduciary duties. The allegations in this lawsuit primarily relate to the company’s previous financial disclosures and reports regarding the certain
tax losses described below. The derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida captioned as Long v. Steve
Odland, Michael D. Newman and Neil R. Austrian, defendants, and Office Depot, Inc., nominal defendant. The Special Litigation Committee (the “SLC”)
appointed by the company’s Board of Directors to review the allegations issued its report on January 9, 2012. As set forth in the report, the SLC determined that
the claims alleged in the Complaint should be dismissed. Accordingly, the company filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint on March 26, 2012. Under the
current Scheduling Order, plaintiff’s opposition brief is due on June 11, 2012 and the company’s reply brief is due on July 12, 2012.

The allegations made in the above lawsuits primarily relate to the company’s previous financial disclosures and reports regarding certain tax losses. On March 31,
2011, Office Depot announced that the Internal Revenue Service had denied the company’s claim to carry back certain tax losses to prior tax years under
economic stimulus-based tax legislation enacted in 2009. As a result, on April 6, 2011, the company restated its financial results to revise the accounting treatment
regarding its original tax position. The periods covered by the restatement are the fiscal year ended December 25, 2010 and each of the quarters ended June 26,
2010 and September 25, 2010.

In addition, in the ordinary course of business, our sales to and transactions with government customers may be subject to investigations, audits and review by
governmental authorities and regulatory agencies, with which we cooperate. Many of these investigations, audits and reviews are resolved without
incident. While claims in these matters may at times assert large demands, we do not believe that contingent liabilities related to these matters, either individually
or in the aggregate, will materially affect our financial position, results of our operations or cash flows. Among such matters, during the first quarter of 2011, we
were notified that the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) commenced an investigation into certain pricing practices related to an expired agreement that
was in place between January 2, 2006 and January 1, 2011, pursuant to which state, local and non-profit agencies could purchase office supplies. We are
cooperating with the DOJ on this investigation.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Except for the additional risk factors set forth below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors from those previously disclosed in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 filed on February 28, 2012.

We have incurred significant impairment charges and we continue to incur significant impairment charges.

During the first quarter of 2012, we recognized a non-cash asset impairment charge of approximately $18 million in our North America Retail Division, reflecting
a greater than anticipated downturn in sales at certain lower performing stores. We recognized store asset impairment charges in the North American Retail
Division of $11 million during 2011. The company assesses past performance and makes estimates and projections of future performance quarterly at an
individual store level. Our shift in strategy to be less promotional, as well as competitive factors and changes in consumer spending habits resulted in a downward
adjustment of anticipated future cash flows for the individual stores that resulted in the impairment. We foresee ongoing challenges in the economy. To the extent
that forward-looking sales and operating assumptions are not achieved and are subsequently reduced, or if the company commits to a more aggressive store
downsizing strategy, including allocating capital to modify store formats, additional impairment charges may result. Additionally, the company has approximately
$64 million of goodwill at March 31, 2012, with $44 million in the International Division. We measure goodwill for impairment annually or earlier if indicators
of possible impairment are identified. Changes in the numerous variables associated with the judgments, assumptions and estimates made by the company in
assessing the appropriate valuation of our goodwill, including changes resulting from macroeconomic challenges in International markets, could in the future
require us to reduce our goodwill and record related non-cash impairment charges. If we were required to further impair our store assets or our goodwill, it could
have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

The company’s Amended Credit Agreement allows payment of cash dividends on preferred stock and share repurchases, in an aggregate amount of $75 million
per fiscal year subject to the satisfaction of certain liquidity requirements. Also, so long as investors in the redeemable preferred stock own at least 10% of the
common stock voting rights, on an as-converted basis, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of preferred stock then outstanding and entitled to vote is
required for the declaration or payment of a dividend on common stock. Additionally, pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March 14, 2012, among the company,
the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, the company is limited in its ability to pay dividends. The company has never
declared or paid cash dividends on its common stock.

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibits
 

4.1

  

Indenture, dated as of March 14, 2012, relating to the $250 million 9.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2019, among
Office Depot, Inc., the Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference from
Office Depot. Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 15, 2012)

4.2

  

Supplemental Indenture No. 3 to the Indenture dated as of August 11,2003 between Office Depot, Inc. and U.S. Bank
National Association (as successor to SunTrust Bank), dated as of March 14, 012, relating to the 6.250% Senior Notes
due August 15, 2013, between Office Depot, Inc. and U.S. Bank National (as successor to SunTrust Bank)
(incorporated by reference from Office Depot, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 15,
2012)

10.1
  

Form of Notes representing $250 million aggregate principal amount of 9.75% Senior Secured Notes due March 15,
2019

10.2   Form of Restricted Stock Awards for Executives (time vested)
10.3   Form of Restricted Stock Award for Executives (performance/time vested)
31.1   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of CEO
31.2   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of CFO
32   Section 1350 Certification
(101.INS)   XBRL Instance Document
(101.SCH)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
(101.CAL)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
(101.DEF)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
(101.LAB)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
(101.PRE)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

    

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
        (Registrant)   

Date: May 1, 2012     By: /s/ Neil R. Austrian   
    Neil R. Austrian   

    

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman, Board of Directors   

    (Principal Executive Officer)   
 
Date: May 1, 2012     By: /s/ Michael D. Newman   

    Michael D. Newman   
    Executive Vice President and   
    Chief Financial Officer   
    (Principal Financial Officer)   

 
Date: May 1, 2012     By: /s/ Kim Moehler   

    Kim Moehler   

    

Senior Vice President
and Controller   

    (Principal Accounting Officer)   
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EXHIBIT 10.1

[FORM OF FACE OF ORIGINAL NOTE]

[Global Note Legend]

THIS GLOBAL NOTE IS HELD BY THE DEPOSITARY (AS DEFINED IN THE INDENTURE GOVERNING THIS NOTE) OR ITS NOMINEE IN
CUSTODY FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS HEREOF, AND IS NOT TRANSFERABLE TO ANY PERSON UNDER ANY
CIRCUMSTANCES EXCEPT THAT (I) THE TRUSTEE MAY MAKE SUCH NOTATIONS HEREON AS MAY BE REQUIRED PURSUANT TO SECTION
2.07 OR SECTION 9.04 OF THE INDENTURE, (II) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE EXCHANGED IN WHOLE BUT NOT IN PART PURSUANT TO
SECTION 2.2(b) OF APPENDIX A TO THE INDENTURE, (III) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE DELIVERED TO THE TRUSTEE FOR CANCELLATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.11 OF THE INDENTURE AND (IV) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE TRANSFERRED TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY
WITH THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE COMPANY.

[Restricted Note Legend]

THIS NOTE (OR ITS PREDECESSOR) WAS ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN A TRANSACTION EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE UNITED
STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE
TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR AN APPLICABLE EXEMPTION THEREFROM. EACH PURCHASER OF THIS
NOTE IS HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT THE SELLER OF THIS NOTE MAY BE RELYING ON THE EXEMPTION FROM THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION
5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144A THEREUNDER.

THE HOLDER OF THIS NOTE AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE COMPANY THAT (A) THIS NOTE MAY BE OFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED OR
OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, ONLY (I) IN THE UNITED STATES TO A PERSON WHOM THE SELLER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED
INSTITUTIONAL BUYER (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) IN A TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF
RULE 144A, (II) OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 OR 904 UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT, (III) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144
THEREUNDER (IF AVAILABLE) OR (IV) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, IN EACH
OF CASES (I) THROUGH (IV) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES, AND
(B) THE HOLDER WILL, AND EACH SUBSEQUENT HOLDER IS REQUIRED TO, NOTIFY ANY PURCHASER OF THIS NOTE FROM IT OF THE
RESALE RESTRICTIONS REFERRED TO IN (A) ABOVE.
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[Regulation S Legend]

THIS NOTE (OR ITS PREDECESSOR) WAS ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN A TRANSACTION ORIGINALLY EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION UNDER
THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED IN THE UNITED STATES OR
TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, ANY U.S. PERSON EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND ALL APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. TERMS USED ABOVE HAVE
THE MEANINGS GIVEN TO THEM IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.

Each Regulation S Global Note shall bear the following additional legend (as applicable):

THE RIGHTS ATTACHING TO THIS REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE, AND THE CONDITIONS AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING ITS EXCHANGE
FOR CERTIFICATED NOTES, ARE AS SPECIFIED IN THE INDENTURE (AS DEFINED HEREIN).

Each Definitive Note shall bear the following additional legend:

IN CONNECTION WITH ANY TRANSFER, THE HOLDER WILL DELIVER TO THE REGISTRAR AND TRUSTEE SUCH CERTIFICATES AND
OTHER INFORMATION AS SUCH REGISTRAR AND TRUSTEE MAY REASONABLY REQUIRE TO CONFIRM THAT THE TRANSFER COMPLIES
WITH THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS.
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[FORM OF ORIGINAL NOTE]

CUSIP No.             
ISIN No.             

No.                                                                                               $

OFFICE DEPOT, INC. 9.75%
Senior Secured Notes due 2019

OFFICE DEPOT, INC., a Delaware corporation, for value received, promises to pay to [            ], or its registered assigns, the principal sum of [            ]
Dollars ($[            ]) [or such other amount as is listed on the Schedule of Increases or Decreases in Global Note attached hereto]  on March 15, 2019.

Interest Payment Dates: March 15 and September 15, commencing September 15, 2012.

Record Dates: March 1 and September 1.

Additional provisions of this Note are set forth on the other side of this Note.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this instrument to be duly executed.
 

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.

By:   

 Name:
 Title:

Dated:                    

[Attach Notation of Note Guarantee for each Guarantor]
 
 Use the Schedule of Increases and Decreases language if Note is in Global Form.
 Applicable to Original Notes only.
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TRUSTEE’S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION
 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, certifies that this is

one of the Notes referred to in the Indenture

By:   

 Authorized Signatory

Dated:
 
*/ If the Note is to be issued in global form, add the Global Notes Legend and the applicable attachment from Exhibit A captioned “TO BE ATTACHED TO

GLOBAL NOTES — SCHEDULE OF INCREASES OR DECREASES IN GLOBAL NOTES”.
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[FORM OF REVERSE SIDE OF ORIGINAL NOTE]

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
9.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2019

Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture referred to below unless otherwise indicated.

1. Interest

The Company promises to pay interest on the principal amount of this Note at the rate per annum shown above from the date hereof until maturity. The
Company shall pay interest semiannually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, or if any such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding
Business Day (each an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing September 15, 2012. Interest on the Notes shall accrue from the most recent date to which interest
has been paid or duly provided for or, if no interest has been paid or duly provided for, from March 14, 2012 until the principal hereof is due. Interest shall be
computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

2. Method of Payment

The Company shall pay interest on the Notes (except defaulted interest) to the Persons who are registered Holders at the close of business on the March 1
or September 1 immediately preceding the Interest Payment Date even if Notes are canceled after the record date and on or before the Interest Payment Date,
except as provided in Section 2.12 of the Indenture with respect to defaulted interest. The Company shall pay principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes
in money of the United States of America that at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts. The Company will make payments
in respect of the Notes represented by the Global Notes, including principal, premium, if any, and interest, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the
accounts specified by the Global Note Holder. The Company will make all payments of principal, interest and premium, if any, with respect to Definitive Notes
by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the Holders of the Definitive Notes. All other payments on Notes shall be made at the
office or agency of the Paying Agent and Registrar within the City and State of New York unless the Company elects to make interest payments by check mailed
to the Holders at their addresses set forth in the register of Holders.

3. Paying Agent and Registrar

Initially, U.S. Bank National Association (the “Trustee”) will act as Paying Agent and Registrar. The Company may appoint and change any Paying Agent
or Registrar without notice to any Holder. The Company or any of its Subsidiaries may act as Paying Agent or Registrar.

4. Indenture

The Company issued the Notes under an Indenture dated as of March 14, 2012 (the “Indenture”), among the Company, the Guarantors and the Trustee. The
terms of the Notes include those stated in the Indenture. The Notes are subject to all such terms and provisions of the Indenture, and the Holders (as defined in the
Indenture) are referred to the Indenture for a statement of such terms and provisions. To the extent any provision of this Note conflicts with the express provisions
of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall govern and be controlling. The Indenture pursuant to which this Note is issued provides that an unlimited
aggregate principal amount of Additional Notes may be issued thereunder, provided certain conditions are met.

5. Optional Redemption

(a) Except as set forth in subparagraph (b) and (c) of this paragraph 5, the Company shall not have the option to redeem the Notes pursuant to this Section
prior to March 15, 2016. On or after March 15, 2016 the Company may redeem the Notes, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, upon not less than 30
nor more than
 

A-5



60 days’ notice, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount) set forth below, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, to but not
including the applicable redemption date, if redeemed during the 12-month period beginning on March 15 of the years indicated below, subject to the rights of
Holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest on the relevant Interest Payment Date:
 

Year   Percentage  
March 15, 2016    104.875% 
March 15, 2017    102.438% 
March 15, 2018 and thereafter    100.000% 

(b) At any time and from time to time on or prior to March 15, 2015, the Company may redeem in the aggregate up to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of the Notes issued under the Indenture (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of Additional Notes) with the net cash proceeds of one or more
Equity Offerings (1) by the Company or (2) by any direct or indirect parent of the Company to the extent the net cash proceeds of such Equity Offering by such
direct or indirect parent of the Company are contributed to the common equity capital of the Company or used to purchase Capital Stock (other than Disqualified
Stock) of the Company from it, at a redemption price (expressed as a percentage of principal amount thereof) of 109.750%, plus accrued and unpaid interest on
the Notes redeemed to but not including the redemption date; provided, however, that (i) at least 65% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Notes (not
including any issuance of Additional Notes) remains outstanding after each such redemption; and (ii) any such redemption shall occur within 90 days after the
date on which any such Equity Offering is consummated and otherwise in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Indenture.

(c) At any time prior to March 15, 2016, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, at the option of the Company, the Company may redeem the
Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus the Applicable Premium as of, and accrued and unpaid
interest thereon, to but not including, the date fixed for redemption, subject to the right of Holders on the relevant record date to receive interest on the relevant
interest payment date that occurs on or prior to the date fixed for redemption.

6. Mandatory Redemption

The Company shall not be required to make mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the Notes.

7. Notice of Redemption

Notice of redemption shall be mailed by first-class mail at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each Holder of Notes to be
redeemed at his, her or its registered address, except that redemption notices may be mailed more than 60 days prior to a redemption date if the notice is issued in
connection with a defeasance of the Notes or a satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture. Notes in denominations larger than $2,000 may be redeemed in part
but only in whole multiples of $1,000. On or after the redemption date, unless the Company defaults in the payment of the redemption price, interest ceases to
accrue on Notes or portions thereof called for redemption.

8. Repurchase of Notes at the Option of the Holders upon Change of Control and Asset Sales

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, each Holder shall have the right, subject to certain conditions specified in the Indenture, to cause the
Company to repurchase all or any part (equal to $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof) of that Holder’s Notes at a purchase price in cash equal
to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the date of purchase (subject to the rights of the Holders of record
on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant Interest Payment Date), as provided in, and subject to the terms of, the Indenture.

In accordance with Section 4.06 of the Indenture, the Company will be required to offer to purchase Notes and other Priority Lien Debt (if any) upon the
occurrence of certain events related to sales of Company assets. If such an event occurs, the offer price for the Notes and any other Priority Lien Debt in any
Asset Sale Offer will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes and such other Priority Lien Debt repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest on
the Notes and any other Priority Lien Debt to the date of purchase, as provided in, and subject to the terms of, the Indenture.
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In accordance with Section 4.07 of the Indenture, the Company will be required to offer to purchase Notes upon the occurrence of a sale of certain
Company assets. If such a sale occurs, the offer price for the Notes in any Specified Asset Sale Offer will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase (subject to the rights of Holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest on the
relevant Interest Payment Date), as provided in, and subject to the terms of, the Indenture.

9. Denominations; Transfer; Exchange

The Notes are in registered global form, without interest coupons, in denominations of $2,000 and any integral multiple of $1,000 in excess of $2,000. The
transfer of Notes may be registered and Notes may be exchanged in accordance with the Indenture. Upon any registration of transfer or exchange, the Registrar
and the Trustee may require a Holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements or transfer documents and the Company may require a Holder to
pay any taxes required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Registrar need not register the transfer of or exchange any Notes selected for redemption
(except, in the case of a Note to be redeemed in part, the portion of the Note not to be redeemed) or to transfer or exchange any Notes (i) for a period beginning at
the opening of business 15 days before the day of any selection of Notes for redemption and ending at the close of business on the day of selection or (ii) tendered
and not withdrawn in connection with a Change of Control Offer, an Asset Sale Offer or a Specified Asset Sale Offer. Transfer may be restricted as provided in
the Indenture.

10. Persons Deemed Owners

The registered Holder of this Note shall be treated as its owner for all purposes.

11. Unclaimed Money

Subject to any applicable escheat or other abandoned property law, the Trustee or Paying Agent shall pay to the Company upon written request any money
held by them for the payment of principal of, premium (if any) or interest on, any Note that remains unclaimed for two years after such amounts have become due
and payable, and, thereafter, Holders entitled to the money must look to the Company for payment as a general creditor, and the Trustee and each Paying Agent
shall have no further liability with respect to such monies.

12. Discharge and Defeasance

Subject to certain conditions, the Company at any time may terminate some of or all its obligations under the Notes and the Indenture if, among other
things, the Company deposits with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes, cash in U.S. dollars, Government Securities, or a combination
thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient, in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants, to pay the principal of, or
premium (if any) and interest on, the outstanding Notes.

13. Amendment, Supplement and Waiver

(a) Subject to certain exceptions, the Indenture, the Notes, the Note Guarantees or the related Security Documents may be amended or supplemented with
the consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection
with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, Notes), and any past default or non-compliance with, or requirement for future compliance with, any
provision of the Indenture, the Notes, the Note Guarantees or the Security Documents may be waived with the consent of the Holders of a majority in principal
amount of the then outstanding Notes (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for,
Notes).
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(b) Without the consent of any Holder of a Note, the Indenture, the Notes, the Note Guarantees or the Security Documents may be amended or
supplemented to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency, to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes, to provide for the
assumption of the Company’s or any Guarantor’s obligations to Holders of Notes in the case of a merger or consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the
Company’s or such Guarantor’s assets, in either case, as permitted in the Indenture, to make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the
Holders of Notes or that does not adversely affect, in any material respect, the legal rights under the Indenture of any such Holder, to comply with requirements of
the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the Indenture under the TIA, if applicable, to comply with Section 4.11 of the Indenture, to conform the
text of the Indenture, the Notes, the Note Guarantees or the Security Documents to any provision of the section of the Offering Memorandum entitled
“Description of Notes” to the extent that such provision in the “Description of Notes” was intended to be a verbatim recitation of a provision of the Indenture, the
Notes, the Note Guarantees or the Security Documents, to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment by a successor Trustee (provided that the
successor Trustee is otherwise qualified and eligible to act as such under the Indenture or to provide for a successor or replacement Collateral Trustee under the
Security Documents), to provide for the issuance of Additional Notes in accordance with the Indenture, to make, complete or confirm any grant of Collateral
permitted or required by the Indenture or any of the Security Documents or any release, termination or discharge of Collateral that becomes effective as set forth
in the Indenture or any of the Security Documents, to grant or perfect any Lien for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes, to provide for the release of Collateral
from the Lien of the Indenture and the Security Documents when permitted or required by the Security Documents or the Indenture or to otherwise amend any
Security Document with respect to the ABL Collateral in a manner consistent with any corresponding amendment to the Security Documents governing the ABL
Collateral so long as such amendment does not result in a release of Collateral not otherwise permitted by the Security Documents or the Indenture or as provided
in the Collateral Trust Agreement. Any amendment to, or waiver of, the provisions of the Indenture or any Security Document that has the effect of releasing all
or substantially all of the Collateral from the Liens of the Indenture and the Security Documents will require the consent of the Holders of at least two-thirds in
aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding (but only to the extent any such consent is required under the Collateral Trust Agreement).

14. Defaults and Remedies

In the case of an Event of Default arising from events of bankruptcy or insolvency specified in Section 6.01(g) or Section 6.01(h) of the Indenture with
respect to the Company, or a Restricted Subsidiary that is a Significant Subsidiary, the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all outstanding Notes will
become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. If any other Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee or the Holders of at least
25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare the principal of, premium, if any, and accrued but unpaid interest on all the Notes to be due
and payable immediately by notice in writing to the Company specifying the Event of Default; provided, however, that a Default under Section 6.01(d) or
Section 6.01(e) of the Indenture shall not constitute an Event of Default until the Trustee notifies the Company or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount
of the outstanding Notes notify the Company and the Trustee of the Default and the Company does not cure such Default within the time specified in
Section 6.01(d) or Section 6.01(e) or otherwise after receipt of such notice. Holders of the Notes may not enforce the Indenture or the Notes except as provided in
the Indenture. Subject to certain limitations, Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may direct the Trustee in its exercise of any
trust or power. The Trustee may withhold from Holders of the Notes notice of any Default or Event of Default (except a Default or Event of Default relating to the
payment of principal or interest or premium, if any) if and so long as a committee of its Responsible Officers in good faith determines that withholding the notice
is in the interests of the Holders of the Notes. Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding by notice to the Trustee may on
behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes waive any existing Default or Event of Default and its consequences under the Indenture, except a continuing Default or
Event of Default in the payment of interest, on, premium, if any, on, or the principal of, the Notes; provided, the Notes are not then due and payable by reason of a
Declaration. The Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may rescind an acceleration due to a Declaration and its consequences if
the rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree and if all existing Events of Default have been cured or waived except nonpayment of principal or
interest that has become due solely because of acceleration. No such rescission shall affect any subsequent Default or impair any right consequent thereto.
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15. Trustee Dealings with the Company

Subject to certain limitations imposed by the TIA, the Trustee, in its individual or any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of Notes and may
become a creditor of, or otherwise deal with, the Company or its Affiliates with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee.

16. No Recourse Against Others

No past, present or future director, officer, employee, manager, incorporator or holder of any Equity Interests in the Company or of any Guarantor or any
direct or indirect parent corporation of the Company, as such, shall have any liability for any obligations of the Company or the Guarantors under the Notes, the
Indenture, the Note Guarantees, or the Security Documents or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each
Holder of Notes by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release under Section 16 are part of the consideration for issuance of
the Notes and the Note Guarantees.

17. Authentication

This Note shall not be valid until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee or an authenticating agent.

18. Abbreviations

Customary abbreviations may be used in the name of a Holder or an assignee, such as TEN COM (=tenants in common), TEN ENT (=tenants by the
entireties), JT TEN (=joint tenants with rights of survivorship and not as tenants in common), CUST (=custodian), and U/G/M/A (=Uniform Gift to Minors Act).

19. GOVERNING LAW

THIS SECURITY SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,
WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES WHICH WOULD HAVE THE EFFECT OF APPLYING THE LAWS OF ANY OTHER
JURISDICTION.

20. CUSIP Numbers; ISINs

The Company has caused CUSIP numbers and ISINs to be printed on the Notes and has directed the Trustee to use CUSIP numbers and ISINs in notices of
redemption as a convenience to the Holders. No representation is made as to the accuracy of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any
notice of redemption and reliance may be placed only on the other identification numbers placed thereon.

21. Guarantee

The Company’s obligations under the Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by the Guarantors.

22. Copies of Documents

The Company will furnish to any Holder of Notes upon written request and without charge to the Holder a copy of the Indenture which has in it the text of
this Note.
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Assignment Form

To assign this Note, fill in the form below:
 
(I) or (we) assign and transfer this Note to:    

  (Insert assignee’s legal name)
 
 

(Insert assignee’s sec. sec. or tax I.D. no.)
 
 

(Insert assignee’s address and zip code)

and irrevocably appoint                                                     as agent to transfer this Note on the books of the Company. The agent may substitute another to act for
him or her.
 

Date:   Your Signature:   

  (Sign exactly as your name appears on the face of this Note)

Signature Guarantee*:                                    
 
* Participant in a recognized Signature

Guarantee Medallion Program (or other
signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).
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[To be inserted for Rule 144A Global Note]

SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF INTERESTS IN THE GLOBAL NOTE

The following exchanges of a part of this Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or for a Definitive Note, or exchanges of a part of another
Global Note or Definitive Note for an interest in this Global Note, have been made:
 

Date of Exchange  

Amount of Decrease in
Principal Amount at Maturity

of this Global Note  

Amount of Increase in Principal
Amount at Maturity of this

Global Note  

Principal Amount of this Global
Note Following such decrease

(or increase)  
Signature of Authorized Officer
of Trustee or Notes Custodian

[To be inserted for Regulation S Global Note]

SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF INTERESTS IN THE REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE

The following exchanges of a part of this Regulation S Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or of other Restricted Global Notes for an
interest in this Regulation S Global Note, have been made:
 

Date of Exchange  

Amount of Decrease in
Principal Amount at

Maturity of this Global
Note  

Amount of Increase in
Principal Amount at

Maturity of this Global
Note  

Amount of Increase in
Principal Amount at

Maturity of this Global
Note  

Principal Amount of this
Global Note Following

such decrease (or
increase)  

Signature of Authorized
Officer of Trustee or

Notes Custodian
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OPTION OF HOLDER TO ELECT PURCHASE

If you want to elect to have this Note purchased by the Company pursuant to Section 4.06 (Asset Sale) Section 4.07 (Specified Asset Sale) or Section 4.09
(Change of Control) of the Indenture, check the box:
 
Asset Sale   ☐       Specified Asset Sale    ☐       Change of Control    ☐    

If you want to elect to have only part of this Note purchased by the Company pursuant to Section 4.06 (Asset Sale) Section 4.07 (Specified Asset Sale) or
Section 4.09 (Change of Control) of the Indenture, state the amount ($2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess of $2,000):
 
$                           

Date:                          Your Signature:   
  (Sign exactly as your name appears on the face of this Note) Tax Identification No.:

Signature Guarantee*:                                
 
* Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).
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Exhibit 10.2
 

2012 RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT

We are pleased to advise you that the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of Office Depot, Inc.
(the “Company”) has on March 16, 2012 (the “Grant Date”) granted you a restricted stock award pursuant to the Office Depot, Inc.
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Capitalized terms used but not defined in this 2012 Restricted Stock Award
Agreement (the “Agreement”) have the meanings given to them in the Plan. This award is subject to federal and local law and the
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange.
 
1. Restricted Stock
 
  You have been granted shares of the Company’s common stock (“Common Stock”) subject to the restrictions contained in

the Plan and this Agreement (the “Restricted Shares”). The number of Restricted Shares that have been awarded to you are
displayed as the March 16, 2012 restricted stock grant under the Restricted Stock Awards link of the Plan web site.

 
2. Vesting
 

 

a. Normal Vesting - The Restricted Shares will vest one-third (rounded down to the next highest whole number of
Restricted Shares, as necessary) on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the Grant Date; provided that,
you are continuously employed by the Company or any Subsidiary from the Grant Date until each such anniversary
date (the “Vesting Period”).

 

 
b. Effect on Vesting of Employment Termination - Notwithstanding paragraph 2(a) above, the following rules will apply

if your employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries terminates before you have vested in the Restricted Shares:
 

 

i) Death or Disability. If you terminate employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries due to death or
Disability, the Restricted Shares will vest (to the extent they have not previously vested) on the date of
your employment termination. For this purpose, you will be considered “Disabled” if you have been
determined to be eligible to commence benefits under the Company’s long-term disability program; the
effective date of your Disabled status will be the later of the date on which such determination is made or
the date as of which you are determined to be eligible to commence such benefits. Your Disabled status
must become effective under the preceding sentence prior to the date on which the Restricted Shares
would otherwise be forfeited for failure to vest in order to be recognized under this Agreement. This
definition of “Disability” applies in lieu of the definition set out in the Plan.
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ii) Termination of Employment. Except as provided otherwise in paragraph 2(b)(i) above due to death or
Disability, upon your termination of employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries you will
immediately forfeit all of the Restricted Shares that are not vested on the date of such termination of
employment.

 

 
c. Change in Control - The Restricted Shares will vest (to the extent they have not previously vested) immediately

prior to the date of a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan).
 

 
d. No Other Special Vesting Rights - The provisions of the Plan with respect to accelerated vesting in the event of

Retirement (sections 10.5(iii) and 10.6 of the Plan) do not apply to the Restricted Shares.
 
3. Treatment of Restricted Shares During Vesting Period and Registration
 

 

a. Registration of Shares - The Restricted Shares shall be registered on the Company’s books in your name as of the
Grant Date. The Company may issue stock certificates or evidence your interest by using a book entry account.
Physical possession or custody of any stock certificates that are issued may be retained by the Company until such
time as the Restricted Shares are vested in accordance with Section 2. The Company reserves the right to place a
legend on such stock certificate(s) restricting the transferability of such certificates and referring to the terms and
conditions (including forfeiture) of this Agreement and the Plan.

 

 
b. Voting - During the Vesting Period, while you are employed by the Company or any Subsidiary, you will have the

right to vote the Restricted Shares. If your Restricted Shares are forfeited at any time during the Vesting Period,
you will cease to have any rights with respect to such forfeited shares.

 

 

c. Dividends - During the Vesting Period, while you are employed by the Company or any Subsidiary, you will have
the right to receive any dividends on your Restricted Shares. If any dividends are paid or other distributions are
made on the Restricted Shares during the Vesting Period, such dividends and other distributions shall be paid in
the same proportion on the Restricted Shares to the Company for your account and paid to you, without interest,
within 30 days after the date on which the corresponding Restricted Shares vest. You will forfeit automatically any
dividends and other distributions on the Restricted Shares held by the Company for your account to the extent that
you forfeit the corresponding Restricted Shares.

 

 

d. Release of Restrictions - As soon as practicable after all or a portion of your Restricted Shares vest under Section 2
above, the Company will issue to you a certificate or certificates for (or evidence in book entry or similar account)
shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Restricted Shares that became vested under Section 2 above.
Such shares will not be subject to any restrictions under this Agreement, but may be subject to certain restrictions
under applicable securities laws.
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4. No Section 83(b) Election
 
  The grant of the Restricted Shares to you is conditioned upon you not making an election under section 83(b) of the Internal

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) with respect to the Restricted Shares. By acknowledging this Agreement
through the Plan website, you agree not to make an election under Code section 83(b) with respect to the Restricted Shares.

 
5. Transferability of Restricted Shares
 
  The Restricted Shares may not be sold, pledged, assigned or transferred in any manner; any such purported sale, pledge,

assignment or transfer shall be void and of no effect.
 
6. Conformity with Plan
 
  The Restricted Shares are intended to conform in all respects with, and are subject to, all applicable provisions of the Plan

which is incorporated herein by reference. Inconsistencies between this Agreement and the Plan shall be resolved in
accordance with the terms of the Plan except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement. The Committee reserves
its right to amend or terminate the Plan at any time without your consent; provided, however, that the Restricted Shares
shall not, without your written consent, be adversely affected thereby (except to the extent the Committee reasonably
determines that such amendment or termination is necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable law or the rules or
regulations of any stock exchange on which the Company’s stock is listed or quoted). All interpretations and determinations
of the Committee or its delegate shall be final, binding and conclusive upon you and your legal representatives with respect
to any question arising hereunder or under the Plan or otherwise, including guidelines, policies or regulations which govern
administration of the Plan. By acknowledging this Agreement through the Plan website, you agree to be bound by all of the
terms of the Plan and acknowledge availability and accessibility of the Plan document, the Plan Prospectus, and either the
Company’s latest annual report to shareholders or annual report on Form 10-K on the Plan and/or Company websites. You
understand that you may request paper copies of the foregoing documents by contacting the Company’s Senior Manager,
Executive Compensation & International Compensation and Benefits.

 
7. Restrictions on Shares
 
  If the Committee determines that the listing, registration or qualification upon any securities exchange or under any law of

shares subject to the grant of the Restricted Shares is necessary or desirable as a condition of, or in connection with, the
granting of same or the issue or purchase of shares thereunder, no shares may be issued unless such listing, registration or
qualification is effected free of any conditions not acceptable to the Committee. All certificates for shares of Common
Stock delivered under the Plan shall be
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  subject to such stop-transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the rules,

regulations, and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any listing standards of any exchange or
self-regulatory organization on which the Common Stock of the Company is listed, and any applicable federal or state laws;
and the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be placed on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to
such restrictions. In making such determination, the Committee may rely upon an opinion of counsel for the Company. The
Company shall have no liability to deliver any shares under the Plan or make any other distribution of the benefits under the
Plan unless such delivery or distribution would comply with all applicable state, federal, and foreign laws (including,
without limitation and if applicable, the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933), and any applicable requirements of any
securities exchange or similar entity.

 
8. Non-Compete, Confidentiality, and Non-Solicitation Requirements
 
  The Restricted Shares are also subject to your complying with and not breaching the non-compete, confidentiality, and non-

solicitation agreement that you were required to sign as a condition of your employment with the Company.
 
9. Section 409A
 
  It is intended, and this Agreement shall be construed, so that the Restricted Shares shall be exempt from Code section

409A. However, to the extent that any compensation payable under this Agreement constitutes deferred compensation
within the meaning of Code section 409A and the Department of Treasury regulations and other guidance thereunder,
(i) any provisions of this Agreement that provide for payment of such compensation that is triggered by your separation
from service shall be deemed to provide for payment that is triggered only by your “separation from service” within the
meaning of Treasury Regulation Section §1.409A-1(h), and (ii) if you are a “specified employee” within the meaning of
Treasury Regulation Section §1.409A-1(i) on the date of your separation from service (with such status determined by the
Company in accordance with rules established by the Company in writing in advance of the “specified employee
identification date” that relates to the date of such separation from service or in the absence of such rules established by the
Company, under the default rules for identifying specified employees under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i)), such
compensation shall be paid to you six months following the date of such separation from service (provided, however, that if
you die after the date of your separation from service, this six month delay shall not apply). You acknowledge and agree
that the Company has made no representation regarding the tax treatment of any payment under this Agreement and,
notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, that you are solely responsible for all taxes due with respect to any
payment under this Agreement.

 
10. Employment and Successors
 
  Nothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall serve to modify or amend any employment agreement you may have with the

Company or any Subsidiary or to interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate
your employment at
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  any time, or confer upon you any right to continue in the employ of the Company or any Subsidiary for any period of time

or to continue your present or any other rate of compensation subject to the terms of any employment agreement you may
have with the Company. The grant of the Restricted Shares shall not give you any right to any additional awards under the
Plan or any other compensation plan the Company has adopted or may adopt. The agreements contained in this Agreement
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successor of the Company.

 
11. Amendment
 
  The Committee may amend this Agreement by a writing that specifically states that it is amending this Agreement, so long

as a copy of such amendment is delivered to you, provided that no such amendment shall adversely affect in a material way
your rights hereunder without your written consent (except to the extent the Committee reasonably determines that such
amendment or termination is necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable law or the rules or regulations of any stock
exchange on which the Company’s stock is listed or quoted). Without limiting the foregoing, the Committee reserves the
right to change, by written notice to you, the provisions of the Restricted Shares or this Agreement in any way it may deem
necessary or advisable to carry out the purpose of the grant of the Restricted Shares as a result of any change in applicable
law or regulation or any future law, regulation, ruling, or judicial decisions; provided that, any such change shall be
applicable only to that portion of the Restricted Shares that are then subject to restrictions as provided herein.

 
12. Notices
 
  Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company shall be addressed to the Company as follows:
 
  Office Depot, Inc.
  c/o Vice President, Global Compensation, Benefits, HRIM & HR Services
  6600 North Military Trail
  Boca Raton, FL 33496
 
  Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to you shall be addressed to you at the address listed in the

Company’s records. By a notice given pursuant to this Section, either party may designate a different address for notices.
Any notice shall be deemed to have been duly given when personally delivered (addressed as specified above) or when
enclosed in a properly sealed envelope (addressed as specified above) and deposited, postage prepaid, with the U.S. postal
service or an express mail company.

 
13. Severability
 
  If all or any part of this Agreement or the Plan is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid,

such unlawfulness or invalidity shall not invalidate any portion of this Agreement or the Plan not declared to be unlawful or
invalid. Any section of this Agreement (or part of such a section) so declared to be unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be
construed in a manner that will give effect to the terms of such section or part of a section to the fullest extent possible
while remaining lawful and valid.
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14. Entire Agreement
 
  This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes

all prior agreements or understandings, oral or written, with respect to the subject matter herein. By acknowledging this
Agreement online through the Plan website, you accept the Restricted Shares in full satisfaction of any and all obligations
of the Company to grant equity compensation awards to you as of the date hereof.

 
15. Governing Law
 
  This Agreement will be governed by and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without giving effect

to its conflicts of laws rules or the principles of the choice of law.
 
16. Venue
 
  Any action or proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of or based on any right arising out of this Agreement may be

brought against you or the Company only in the courts of the State of Florida or, if it has or can acquire jurisdiction, in the
United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, West Palm Beach Division; and you and the Company
consent to the jurisdiction of such courts in any such action or proceeding and waive any objection to venue laid therein.

To confirm your understanding and acknowledgment of the terms contained in this Agreement, please log on to the Plan website,
and follow the online instructions for acknowledging the Restricted Shares.

Very truly yours,

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
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Exhibit 10.3
 

2012 RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

We are pleased to advise you that the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of Office Depot, Inc.
(the “Company”) has on March 16, 2012 (the “Grant Date”) granted you a restricted stock unit award pursuant to the Office Depot,
Inc. 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Capitalized terms used but not defined in this 2012 Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement (the “Agreement”) have the meanings given to them in the Plan. This award is subject to federal and local law and the
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange.
 
1. Restricted Stock Units
 
  You have been granted restricted stock units subject to the provisions and restrictions contained in the Plan and this

Agreement (the “Restricted Stock Units”). The target number of Restricted Stock Units that have been awarded to you are
displayed as the March 16, 2012 restricted stock unit grant under the Performance Plan link of the Plan website (your
“Target Award”).

 
2. Vesting
 

 

a. Performance Condition - Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in paragraphs (b) through (e) below,
including in particular the service condition in paragraph (b), you will be eligible to earn all or a portion of your Target
Award based on the Company’s actual earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”) for the Company’s 2012 fiscal year
relative to the threshold, target, and maximum EBIT levels established by the Committee for such fiscal year. These
threshold, target and maximum EBIT levels are displayed under the Performance Plan link of the Plan website. If the
Committee determines that the Company does not achieve at least the threshold level of EBIT for its 2012 fiscal year,
you will immediately forfeit all of your Restricted Stock Units. If the Committee determines that the Company’s
achievement is at least equal to the threshold level of EBIT for its 2012 fiscal year, you will be eligible to earn a
number of Restricted Stock Units based on the interpolation model specified by the Committee relative to your Target
Award. If the Committee determines that the Company’s achievement is above the target level of EBIT for its 2012
fiscal year, the number of Restricted Stock Units you will be eligible to earn will be increased based on the
interpolation model specified by the Committee relative to your Target Award. If the Committee determines that the
Company’s achievement is below the target level, but at least equal to the threshold level, of EBIT for its 2012 fiscal
year, the number of Restricted Stock Units you will be eligible to earn will be decreased based on the interpolation
model specified by the Committee relative to your Target Award. The Committee will determine the number of
Restricted Stock Units, if any, that you are eligible to earn on the foregoing basis following the close of the Company’s
2012 fiscal year (your “Eligible Award”).



 

 
  Upon the Committee’s determination of your Eligible Award, you will immediately forfeit all Restricted Stock Units

other than your Eligible Award. To become vested in all or a portion of your Eligible Award, you must satisfy the
service condition in paragraph (b) below.

 

 

b. Service Condition and Normal Vesting - In addition to the Company satisfying at least the threshold performance
condition in paragraph (a), you must also satisfy the service condition under this paragraph in order to become vested
in your Eligible Award. Your Eligible Award will vest one-third (rounded down to the next highest whole number of
Restricted Stock Units, as necessary) on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the Grant Date; provided
that, you are continuously employed by the Company or any Subsidiary from the Grant Date until each such
anniversary date.

 

 
c. Effect on Vesting of Employment Termination - Notwithstanding paragraph 2(b) above, the following rules will apply

if you separate from service with the Company and its Subsidiaries before you have vested in your Restricted Stock
Units pursuant to paragraph 2(b) above:

 
 i) Death or Disability.
 

 
A. If you separate from service with the Company and its Subsidiaries due to death or Disability prior to

the date on which the Committee has determined the Company’s EBIT achievement for the 2012 fiscal
year, your Target Award will vest on the date of such separation from service.

 

 

B. If you separate from service with the Company and its Subsidiaries due to death or Disability on or
after the date on which the Committee has determined the Company’s EBIT achievement for the 2012
fiscal year, your Eligible Award, if any, will vest (to the extent it has not previously vested) on the date
of such separation from service.

 

 

C. For this purpose, you will be considered “Disabled” if you have been determined to be eligible to
commence benefits under the Company’s long-term disability program; the effective date of your
Disabled status will be the later of the date on which such determination is made or the date as of
which you are determined to be eligible to commence such benefits. Your Disabled status must
become effective under the preceding sentence prior to the date on which the Restricted Stock Units
would otherwise be forfeited for failure to vest in order to be recognized under this Agreement. This
definition of “Disability” applies in lieu of the definition set out in the Plan.
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ii) Termination of Employment.    Except as provided otherwise in paragraph 2(c)(i) above due to death or
Disability, upon your separation from service with the Company and its Subsidiaries, you will immediately
forfeit all of your Restricted Stock Units that are not vested under paragraph 2(b) above or paragraph 2(d)
below on the date of such separation from service.

 
 d. Change in Control -
 

 

i) Prior to EBIT Determination. If a Change in Control occurs prior to the date on which the Committee has
determined the Company’s EBIT achievement for the 2012 fiscal year, your Target Award will vest
immediately prior to the date of the Change in Control. On the date of the Change in Control, you will
immediately forfeit all of your Restricted Stock Units that are not vested under this paragraph 2(d) or
paragraph 2(b) or 2(c) above.

 

 
ii) After EBIT Determination. If a Change in Control occurs on or after the date on which the Committee has

determined the Company’s EBIT achievement for the 2012 fiscal year, your Eligible Award, if any, will vest
(to the extent it has not previously vested) immediately prior to the date of the Change in Control.

 

 
e. No Other Special Vesting Rights – The provisions of the Plan with respect to accelerated vesting in the event of

Retirement (sections 10.5(iii) and 10.6 of the Plan) do not apply to your Restricted Stock Units.
 
3. Rights as Stockholder
 
  You shall have no voting, dividend or any other rights as a stockholder of the Company with respect to your Restricted

Stock Units. Upon the issuance of Common Stock pursuant to Section 4 below, you shall obtain full voting and other rights
of a stockholder of the Company as to such shares.

 
4. Registration
 
  Within 30 days after all or a portion of your Restricted Stock Units become vested under paragraphs 2(b) through (d) above,

the Company will issue to you and register in your name a certificate or certificates for (or evidence in book entry or similar
account) a number of shares of the Company’s common stock (“Common Stock”) equal to the number of Restricted Stock
Units that became vested under paragraphs 2(b) through (d) above. Such shares will not be subject to any restrictions under
this Agreement, but may be subject to certain restrictions under applicable securities laws.
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5. Transferability of Restricted Stock Units
 
  Your Restricted Stock Units may not be sold, pledged, assigned or transferred in any manner; any such purported sale,

pledge, assignment or transfer shall be void and of no effect.
 
6. Conformity with Plan
 
  Your Restricted Stock Units are intended to conform in all respects with, and are subject to, all applicable provisions of the

Plan which is incorporated herein by reference. Inconsistencies between this Agreement and the Plan shall be resolved in
accordance with the terms of the Plan except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement. The Committee reserves
its right to amend or terminate the Plan at any time without your consent; provided, however, that your Restricted Stock
Units shall not, without your written consent, be adversely affected thereby (except to the extent the Committee reasonably
determines that such amendment or termination is necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable law or the rules or
regulations of any stock exchange on which the Company’s stock is listed or quoted). All interpretations and determinations
of the Committee or its delegate shall be final, binding and conclusive upon you and your legal representatives with respect
to any question arising hereunder or under the Plan or otherwise, including guidelines, policies or regulations which govern
administration of the Plan. By acknowledging this Agreement through the Plan website, you agree to be bound by all of the
terms of the Plan and acknowledge availability and accessibility of the Plan document, the Plan Prospectus, and either the
Company’s latest annual report to shareholders or annual report on Form 10-K on the Plan and/or Company websites. You
understand that you may request paper copies of the foregoing documents by contacting the Company’s Senior Manager,
Executive Compensation & International Compensation and Benefits.

 
7. Restrictions on Shares
 
  If the Committee determines that the listing, registration or qualification upon any securities exchange or under any law of

shares subject to the grant of the Restricted Stock Units is necessary or desirable as a condition of, or in connection with,
the granting of same or the issue or purchase of shares thereunder, no shares may be issued unless such listing, registration
or qualification is effected free of any conditions not acceptable to the Committee. All certificates for shares of Common
Stock delivered under the Plan shall be subject to such stop-transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may
deem advisable under the rules, regulations, and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any listing
standards of any exchange or self-regulatory organization on which the Common Stock of the Company is listed, and any
applicable federal or state laws; and the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be placed on any such certificates to
make appropriate reference to such restrictions. In making such determination, the Committee may rely upon an opinion of
counsel for the Company. The Company shall have no liability to deliver any shares under the Plan or make any
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  other distribution of the benefits under the Plan unless such delivery or distribution would comply with all applicable state,

federal, and foreign laws (including, without limitation and if applicable, the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933),
and any applicable requirements of any securities exchange or similar entity.

 
8. Non-Compete, Confidentiality, and Non-Solicitation Requirements
 
  Your Restricted Stock Units are also subject to your complying with and not breaching the non-compete, confidentiality,

and non-solicitation agreement that you were required to sign as a condition of your employment with the Company.
 
9. Compliance with Section 409A
 
  It is intended, and this Agreement shall be construed, so that all compensation payable to you under this Agreement shall be

exempt from section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). However, to the extent that any
compensation payable under this Agreement constitutes deferred compensation within the meaning of Code section 409A
and the Department of Treasury regulations and other guidance thereunder, (i) any provisions of this Agreement that
provide for payment of such compensation that is triggered by your separation from service shall be deemed to provide for
payment that is triggered only by your “separation from service” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section
§1.409A-1(h), and (ii) if you are a “specified employee” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section §1.409A-1(i)
on the date of your separation from service (with such status determined by the Company in accordance with rules
established by the Company in writing in advance of the “specified employee identification date” that relates to the date of
such separation from service or in the absence of such rules established by the Company, under the default rules for
identifying specified employees under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i)), such compensation triggered by your
separation from service shall be paid to you six months following the date of such separation from service (provided,
however, that if you die after the date of your separation from service, this six month delay shall not apply). You
acknowledge and agree that the Company has made no representation regarding the tax treatment of any payment under this
Agreement and, notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, that you are solely responsible for all taxes due with
respect to any payment under this Agreement.

 
10. Employment and Successors
 
  Nothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall serve to modify or amend any employment agreement you may have with the

Company or any Subsidiary or to interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate
your employment at any time, or confer upon you any right to continue in the employ of the Company or any Subsidiary for
any period of time or to continue your present or any other rate of compensation subject to the terms of any employment
agreement you may have with the Company. The grant of your Restricted Stock Units shall not give you any right to any
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  additional awards under the Plan or any other compensation plan the Company has adopted or may adopt. The agreements

contained in this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successor of the Company.
 
11. Amendment
 
  The Committee may amend this Agreement by a writing that specifically states that it is amending this Agreement, so long

as a copy of such amendment is delivered to you, provided that no such amendment shall adversely affect in a material way
your rights hereunder without your written consent (except to the extent the Committee reasonably determines that such
amendment or termination is necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable law or the rules or regulations of any stock
exchange on which the Company’s stock is listed or quoted). Without limiting the foregoing, the Committee reserves the
right to change, by written notice to you, the provisions of the Restricted Stock Units or this Agreement in any way it may
deem necessary or advisable to carry out the purpose of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units as a result of any change in
applicable law or regulation or any future law, regulation, ruling, or judicial decisions; provided that, any such change shall
be applicable only to that portion of your Restricted Stock Units that are then subject to restrictions as provided herein.

 
12. Notices
 
  Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company shall be addressed to the Company as follows:

Office Depot, Inc.
c/o Vice President, Global Compensation, Benefits, HRIM & HR Services
6600 North Military Trail
Boca Raton, FL 33496

 
  Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to you shall be addressed to you at the address listed in the

Company’s records. By a notice given pursuant to this Section, either party may designate a different address for notices.
Any notice shall be deemed to have been duly given when personally delivered (addressed as specified above) or when
enclosed in a properly sealed envelope (addressed as specified above) and deposited, postage prepaid, with the U.S. postal
service or an express mail company.

 
13. Severability
 
  If all or any part of this Agreement or the Plan is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid,

such unlawfulness or invalidity shall not invalidate any portion of this Agreement or the Plan not declared to be unlawful or
invalid. Any section of this Agreement (or part of such a section) so declared to be unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be
construed in a manner that will give effect to the terms of such section or part of a section to the fullest extent possible
while remaining lawful and valid.
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14. Entire Agreement
 
  This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes

all prior agreements or understandings, oral or written, with respect to the subject matter herein. By acknowledging this
Agreement online through the Plan website, you accept the Restricted Stock Units in full satisfaction of any and all
obligations of the Company to grant equity compensation awards to you as of the date hereof.

 
15. Governing Law
 
  This Agreement will be governed by and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without giving effect

to its conflicts of laws rules or the principles of the choice of law.
 
16. Venue
 
  Any action or proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of or based on any right arising out of this Agreement may be

brought against you or the Company only in the courts of the State of Florida or, if it has or can acquire jurisdiction, in the
United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, West Palm Beach Division; and you and the Company
consent to the jurisdiction of such courts in any such action or proceeding and waive any objection to venue laid therein.

To confirm your understanding and acknowledgment of the terms contained in this Agreement, please log on to the Plan website,
and follow the online instructions for acknowledging your Restricted Stock Units.

Very truly yours,

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
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Exhibit 31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Neil R. Austrian, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Office Depot, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: May 1, 2012
 
/s/ Neil R. Austrian
Neil R. Austrian
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Board of Directors
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Exhibit 31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Michael D. Newman, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Office Depot, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: May 1, 2012
 
/s/ Michael D. Newman
Michael D. Newman
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32

Office Depot, Inc.

Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Office Depot, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2012 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Neil R. Austrian, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Michael D. Newman,
as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that, to each officer’s knowledge:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
/s/ Neil R. Austrian
Name:  Neil R. Austrian
Title:  Chief Executive Officer
Date:  May 1, 2012

/s/ Michael D. Newman
Name:  Michael D. Newman
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
Date:  May 1, 2012

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Report pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 1350 of Title 18 of the
United States Code and, accordingly, is not being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the Report and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of the
Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing).
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